

University of Iowa Iowa Research Online

Theses and Dissertations

Summer 2009

Approach-avoidance and optimism

Jason Paul Rose University of Iowa

Copyright 2009 Jason Paul Rose

This dissertation is available at Iowa Research Online: http://ir.uiowa.edu/etd/317

Recommended Citation

Rose, Jason Paul. "Approach-avoidance and optimism." PhD (Doctor of Philosophy) thesis, University of Iowa, 2009. http://ir.uiowa.edu/etd/317.

Follow this and additional works at: http://ir.uiowa.edu/etd

Part of the <u>Psychology Commons</u>

APPROACH-AVOIDANCE AND OPTIMISM

by

Jason Paul Rose

An Abstract

Of a thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Psychology in the Graduate College of The University of Iowa

July 2009

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Paul D. Windschitl

ABSTRACT

It is a widely assumed principle that organisms reflexively approach possibilities for pleasure and avoid possibilities for pain. However, highly evolved organisms not only reflexively react to future possibilities of pleasure vs. pain, but also evaluate the chance or risk of actually experiencing such possibilities. Given the import of optimism judgments in shaping behavior and other outcomes, the main goal of the current research was to examine the relationship between the rudimentary systems of approach-avoidance that orient us toward possible outcomes in the environment and the higher-order optimism judgments we make when evaluating whether such outcomes are likely to occur. To this end, two experiments examined the impact of approach-avoidance cues in shaping participants' optimism judgments about experiencing positive and negative future life events. For the primary operationalization of approach-avoidance, college student participants engaged in arm flexion (a motor movement associated with approach) or arm extension (a motor movement associated with avoidance) while simultaneously making optimism judgments about experiencing a range of positive and negative events in the future. A secondary operationalization involved correlations computed between participants' chronic personality tendencies related to approachavoidance (e.g., positive vs. negative affectivity) and their optimism judgments. The results of these experiments revealed complexities in the relationship between approachavoidance and optimism, suggesting that when, how and why approach-avoidance cues will shape optimism may critically depend upon 1) the specific operationalization of approach-avoidance, 2) how optimism is measured, and 3) characteristics of the outcomes under consideration. Explanations for the complexities in the results are offered, and attempts are made to link the current work to broader theoretical and practical aspects of the connection between approach-avoidance and optimism.

Abstract Approved:

Thesis Supervisor

Title and Department

Date

APPROACH-AVOIDANCE AND OPTIMISM

by

Jason Paul Rose

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Psychology in the Graduate College of The University of Iowa

July 2009

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Paul D. Windschitl

Copyright by

JASON PAUL ROSE

2009

All Rights Reserved

Graduate College The University of Iowa Iowa City, Iowa

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

PH.D. THESIS

This is to certify that the Ph.D. thesis of

Jason Paul Rose

has been approved by the Examining Committee for the thesis requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Psychology at the July 2009 graduation.

Thesis Committee:

Paul D. Windschitl, Thesis Supervisor

Jerry Suls

Irwin Levin

Shaun Vecera

Dhananjay Nayakankuppam

To Michelle

I try to avoid looking forward or backward, and try to keep looking upward.

Charlotte Bronte

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

There have been countless individuals who have offered their advice, support, time, and effort into facilitating my progress as a scholar and ultimately shaping the direction of this (and all) of my research while at the University of Iowa. There are three individuals who warrant direct mention here. These three individuals were critical to my success, and I owe them all a tremendous debt of gratitude for shaping my perspective as a scholar/thinker and for providing me with the tools necessary to achieve my goals.

First, I acknowledge the support, guidance, and friendship of Professor Irwin Levin. I admire Irwin so much for his dedication and passion for research, teaching, and mentoring. He is relentless in pursing answers to deep and stimulating research questions, even after all these years in academia. I can only hope to have half as productive and fulfilling a career as Irwin. Moreover, even after all of his success, Irwin remains completely kind-hearted, unassuming, and unpretentious. He will listen to anyone's ideas (no matter how ill-informed or far-fetched they might seem at the time!) and offer warm and constructive advice. Above-all, I think Irwin exemplifies what science should be: a collaborative, fun, and engaging enterprise where we explore the ideas about which we are passionate.

Second, I acknowledge the support, training, guidance, and friendship of Professor Jerry Suls. To me, Jerry is the quintessential professor. The type of professor I'd always imagined and always wanted to emulate. His knack for knowing pretty much everything about social and personality psychology (including the history of who did the research and how it came about) is impressive, motivating, and an indispensable resource. I admire his ground-breaking career, his ability to shape the field, and his tenacity for pushing the limits across several research areas. His no non-sense approach to the field is both refreshing and admirable, allowing science to progress via divergence and by avoiding complacency. I will never forget his stories, advice, and diverse interests (who else can talk about science fiction, cancer rumors, above-average effects,

iv

and a submarine shop all within the same lab group!). Above all, Jerry inspired and challenged me while at Iowa. He pushed me to understand our science from a broader perspective and encouraged me to bridge various lines of research. Because of his influence, I was led to pursue research topics that I never would have and, ultimately, my career path was significantly altered because of these decisions and his influence.

Finally, I have to recognize the indispensable guidance, support, training, and friendship from my primary adviser, Professor Paul Windschitl. I feel truly fortunate that I ended up working with Paul. He is extraordinarily warm, supportive, and encouraging of all of his students – and everyone can see how genuine it is. *Our* goals are *his* goals. He allowed me the opportunity to make mistakes, but was always there to make sure I didn't fall too far. He offered stability, support, and constructive feedback when things seemed uncertain or weren't working out. I admire him so much for his relentless pursuit for understanding important research questions, for his meticulous approach to research methodology and writing, for his ability to engage his undergraduate and graduate students, and for his balanced and effective mentoring style. Above all he genuinely cares about his students on a professional and personal level, and tirelessly invests in the future of his students. His influence over my approach to science, teaching, research, writing and mentoring is immeasurable and will no doubt continue long into my career. Paul is a wonderful collaborator/friend and I hope to continue to benefit from the relationship we have developed.

In summary, I want to extend my warmest and deepest thanks to Irwin, Jerry, and Paul! I am also indebted to Professors Dhananjay ("DJ") Nayakankuppam and Shaun Vecera, each of whom provided constructive suggestions as part of my dissertation committee. Additionally, I would like to extend my thanks to the many graduate and undergraduate students that have played no small role in my development as a scholar throughout the last several years. Special thanks go to all of the wonderful undergraduate students in the Windschitl lab that aided in data collection for these dissertation studies

V

and to three particular graduate students (Zlatan Krizan, Andrew Smith, and Andrew Beer) who offered a steady stream of support and intellectual stimulation during my time in graduate school. Finally, I want to thank my dearest Michelle for her unwavering support during this entire process and to my family, for whom I would not be the person I am today (for better or worse!).

ABSTRACT

It is a widely assumed principle that organisms reflexively approach possibilities for pleasure and avoid possibilities for pain. However, highly evolved organisms not only reflexively react to future possibilities of pleasure vs. pain, but also evaluate the chance or risk of actually experiencing such possibilities. Given the import of optimism judgments in shaping behavior and other outcomes, the main goal of the current research was to examine the relationship between the rudimentary systems of approach-avoidance that orient us toward possible outcomes in the environment and the higher-order optimism judgments we make when evaluating whether such outcomes are likely to occur. To this end, two experiments examined the impact of approach-avoidance cues in shaping participants' optimism judgments about experiencing positive and negative future life events. For the primary operationalization of approach-avoidance, college student participants engaged in arm flexion (a motor movement associated with approach) or arm extension (a motor movement associated with avoidance) while simultaneously making optimism judgments about experiencing a range of positive and negative events in the future. A secondary operationalization involved correlations computed between participants' chronic personality tendencies related to approachavoidance (e.g., positive vs. negative affectivity) and their optimism judgments. The results of these experiments revealed complexities in the relationship between approachavoidance and optimism, suggesting that when, how and why approach-avoidance cues will shape optimism may critically depend upon 1) the specific operationalization of approach-avoidance, 2) how optimism is measured, and 3) characteristics of the outcomes under consideration. Explanations for the complexities in the results are offered, and attempts are made to link the current work to broader theoretical and practical aspects of the connection between approach-avoidance and optimism.

vii

LIST OF TA	BLES
LIST OF FIC	JURES
CHAPTER	
Ι	APPROACH-AVOIDANCE, OPTIMISM, AND THEIR CONNECTION
	Approach-Avoidance Optimism about the Future The Connection between Approach-Avoidance and Optimism Current Research
	Goals and Operationalizations Hypotheses Compatibility-Incompatibility Account General-Outlook Account Effective Action Account
Π	TESTING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN APPROACH- AVOIDANCE TRAITS/MOTOR SIGNALS AND OPTIMISM ABOUT FUTURE LIFE EVENTS
	Overview Method Participants and Design Procedure and Dependent Measures Results Preliminary Analyses Desirability Judgments
	Effects of Arm Position on Mood, Effort, and Comfort Primary Analyses Secondary Analyses Discussion Summary of the Results Are Approach-Avoidance and Optimism Related? Approach-Avoidance Motor Signals and Optimism
	Approach-Avoidance Traits and Optimism
III	CLARIFYING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN APPROACH- AVOIDANCE MOTOR SIGNALS AND OPTIMISM JUDGMENTS
	Overview

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Major Changes in Experiment 2
Method
Overview
Participants and Design
Procedure and Dependent Measures
Results
Preliminary Analyses
Desirability Judgments
Effects of Arm Position on Mood, Effort, and
Comfort 3
Primary Analyses
Likelihood Judgments and Outcome Predictions 3
4
Secondary Analyses 4
Discussion
Summary of the Results
Clarifying whether Approach-Avoidance and Optimism
are Related
Approach-Avoidance Motor Signals and
4. A numera alta Assa i dan as Mastan Siana la and
Approach-Avoidance Motor Signals and
Response Times
Approach-Avoidance Traits and Optimism
IV CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS
Summary of the Main Findings
Limitations and Future Directions
Connection between Approach-Avoidance Motor
Signals and Optimism 4
Connection between Trait Measures of Approach-
Avoidance and Optimism 5
Broader Implications 5
Theoretical Implications 5
Practical Implications 5
Conclusions 5
APPENDIX A. HYPOTHESES FOR THE PRIMARY GOAL OF EXPERIMENT 1
APPENDIX B. HYPOTHESES FOR THE SECONDARY GOAL OF
EXPERIMENT 1
APPENDIX C. FUTURE LIFE EVENTS USED IN EXPERIMENT 1
APPENDIX D. INTERCORRELATIONS AMONG TRAIT MEASURES OF APPROACH-AVOIDANCE
APPENDIX E. FUTURE LIFE EVENTS USED IN EXPERIMENT 2 64
APPENDIX F. TABLES AND FIGURES
BIBLIOGRAPHY

LIST OF TABLES

Table		
F1.	Likelihood judgments as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 1	65
F2.	Zero-order correlations between trait measures of approach-avoidance and likelihood judgments in Experiment 1	66
F3.	Scaled likelihood judgments and outcome predictions as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 2	67
F4.	Optimism judgment response times as a function of event valence, arm position, and judgment type in Experiment 2	68
F5.	Zero-order correlations between trait measures of approach-avoidance and optimism judgments in Experiment 2	69

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		
F1.	Likelihood judgments as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 1	70
F2.	Scaled likelihood judgments as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 2	71
F3.	Outcome predictions as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 2	72

CHAPTER I

APPROACH-AVOIDANCE, OPTIMISM, AND THEIR CONNECTION

Nineteenth century novelist Anatole France once wrote about the human obsession with future-focused thought, noting "That man is prudent who neither hopes nor fears anything from the uncertain events of the future." Although France might think it is more useful to focus one's thoughts and emotions on the present, it is clear that most of us spend an incredible amount of time, as he put it, hoping and fearing about what's to come. What kinds of outcomes or possibilities do people typically hope to acquire but fear may come true?

At the most fundamental level, most of us want to experience positive future outcomes and avoid experiencing negative outcomes (Armor & Taylor, 1998; Klein & Zajac, 2009; Krizan & Windschitl, 2007; Weinstein, 1980, 1987). The notion that organisms approach pleasurable situations, such as food consumption, sexual activity, social acceptance, or achievement, but avoid painful situations, such as harm from predators, illness, social rejection, or failure, is a core motivational assumption across a range of biological and psychological theories of human thought and behavior (Elliot & Covington, 2001). For instance, approach-avoidance is a key component for theories on animal learning (i.e., reward vs. punishment; Thorndike, 1935), unconscious drives (i.e., pleasure vs. pain; Freud, 1952/1920; see also Higgins, 1997), human judgment and decision making (i.e., gain-seeking vs. loss-aversion; Kahneman & Tversky, 1979), selfregulation (i.e., promotion-focus vs. prevention-focus; Higgins, 1997), personality (i.e., extraversion vs. neuroticism; Elliot & Thrash, 2002; Watson, Wiese, Vaidya, & Tellegen, 1999), and evolutionary adaptation (i.e., responses to opportunities vs. threats; Lazarus, 1991). Furthermore, some suggest we evolved two distinct motivational systems in the brain that serve different needs for an organism: an activation system that moves an organism toward rewards and an inhibition system that moves an organism away from threat (cf. Carver & White, 1994; Fowles, 1987; Gray, 1987, 1990, 1994).

However, it is clear from the opening quote that we not only reflexively approach pleasurable possibilities and avoid painful ones, we have also evolved the ability to think about such possibilities before they do or do not happen (Gilbert & Wilson, 2008). That is, we can judge the chance or risk of experiencing future possibilities, and such assessments can have a profound influence on our behaviors and psychologically-relevant outcomes (cf. Fishburn, 1988; Janz & Becker, 1984; Klein & Zajac, 2009; Mellers & McGraw, 2001; Taylor & Brown, 1988; Weinstein, 1988). The current research examined how the rudimentary motives, emotions, and physical actions that "pull" us toward positive possibilities vs. "push" us away from negative possibilities interface with higher-order optimism judgments about experiencing such positive and negative possibilities. The next three sections provide more detail about the concepts of 1) approach-avoidance, 2) optimism, and 3) the intersection of the two.

Approach-Avoidance

The notions of approach and avoidance have been discussed for centuries (e.g., James, 1950; see review in Elliot & Covington, 2001). The key premise is that humans and other organisms have fundamental tendencies to approach desirable end states and avoid undesirable end states (cf. Elliot & Thrash, 2002; Higgins, 1997). Moreover, psychologists have proposed that we evolved two distinct motivational systems that aid in the adaptive regulation of emotions, cognitions, and behaviors aimed at coping in an environment where positive and negative possibilities are in constant flux (Carver & White, 1994; Fowles, 1987; Gray, 1987, 1990, 1994). First, the *behavioral activation system* (BAS) is primarily oriented toward self-enhancement, a desire for pleasure, and the presence or absence of reward. Moreover, the BAS has been described as constituting a neurobiological sensitivity to positive stimuli or possibilities, which is accompanied by a series of emotions, cognitions and behaviors aimed at moving an organism toward such stimuli or possibilities. Second, the *behavioral inhibition system* (BIS) is oriented toward self-protection, vigilance for pain, and the presence or absence

of threat. Moreover, the BIS has been described as constituting a neurobiological sensitivity to negative stimuli and possibilities, which is accompanied by a series of emotions, cognitions and behaviors aimed at moving an organism away from such stimuli or possibilities (Cunningham, Raye, & Johnson, 2005; Elliot & Thrash, 2002; Watson et al., 1999).

There are a number of ways in which researchers have empirically examined the strength or presence of approach vs. avoidance systems. Some work has focused on the neurochemical and neurobiological aspects of these two systems, and how the brain reacts differently when pursuing appetitive vs. withdrawal goals, such as consuming food vs. escaping a shock (cf. Cunningham et al., 2005; Gray, 1987, 1990, 1994). Other work has focused on chronic personality traits, emotions, or temperaments that can be reduced to underlying tendencies for approach vs. avoidance. For instance, the personality traits of extraversion, curiosity, reward sensitivity, and general positive affectivity have been linked to the approach system, whereas neuroticism, anxiety, punishment sensitivity, and general negative affectivity have been linked to the avoidance system (Carver & White, 1994; Elliot & Thrash, 2002; Watson et al, 1999; see also Robinson, Wilkowski, & Meier, 2007; Zelenski & Larsen, 2002).

Moreover, both the biologically- and personality- based approaches assume these systems are critical for survival and are a fundamental feature of most organisms. In fact, these tendencies are so ingrained that merely engaging in an approach- or avoidancerelated motor action can activate these motivational systems and have a profound influence on cognitive and emotional processing (e.g., Cacioppo, Priester, & Bernston, 1993; Chen & Bargh, 1999; Forster & Friedman, 2008; Forster & Stepper, 2000; Friedman & Forster, 2000). For instance, flexing one's arm toward the body is associated with consuming desirable stimuli or possibilities, whereas extending one's arm away from the body is associated with evading undesirable stimuli or possibilities. Cacioppo and colleagues (1993) reasoned that a lifetime of physically approaching good things and avoiding bad things results in a classically conditioned association between approach actions and positive stimuli vs. avoidance actions and negative stimuli. Moreover, activation of these differential systems via approach vs. avoidance motor actions has been linked to various aspects of cognitive and emotional processing.

For example, people are faster to categorize positive stimuli while engaging in arm flexion, but are faster to categorize negative stimuli while engaging in arm extension. Categorization response times are typically inhibited when motor actions and the valence of the stimuli are incompatible (see Chen & Bargh, 1999; Neumann & Strack, 2000). Likewise, Centerbar, Schnall, Clore, & Garvin (2008) showed that when affectivelyrelated material from a story was compatible with one's experiential cues from flexion or extension, there was enhanced recall for the material relative to when there was incompatibility (see also Forster & Strack, 1997). One explanation for such categorization and recall effects is that engaging in a particular motor response associated with specific motivational systems primes an organism to attend to aspects of the environment associated with rewards vs. threats, hence facilitating recall and categorization for such information. Consistent with this idea, arm flexion vs. extension differentially influence whether people engage in carefree vs. careful processing styles when solving analytical problems, suggesting a benign vs. threatening appraisal of the environment (Friedman & Forster, 2000, 2005; Gawronski, Deutsch, & Strack, 2005; Riis & Schwarz, 2003). Finally, in addition to influencing categorization, processing style, and memory, these motor movements have also been shown to influence evaluation. For instance, participants who flexed their arms while viewing initially desirable stimuli (e.g., pleasant-looking Chinese characters, attractive consumer products) rated these stimuli even more positively than participants in control and arm extension conditions. Contrariwise, participants who extended their arms while viewing initially undesirable stimuli (e.g., unpleasant-looking Chinese characters, unattractive consumer products)

rated these stimuli even more negatively than participants in control and arm flexion conditions (Cacioppo et al., 1993; Forster, 2004; although see Centerbar & Clore, 2006).

Thus far, I have described the influence of approach and avoidance systems on cognitive and emotional processing as operating at a very low level, such as having an effect on attentional search processes, categorization, and memory. However, in modern humans these systems may also influence higher-order psychological judgment and decision-making (Carver & White, 1994; see also Clore & Gasper, 2000; Lauriola & Levin, 2001; Lauriola, Russo, Lucidi, Violani, & Levin, 2005; Schwarz, 1990, 1998, 2006; Schwarz & Clore, 1996). Moreover, Elliot & Covington (2001) suggest that organisms with higher-order cognition can sometimes override initial impulses for reflexive appetitive and withdrawal behaviors. For example, a delectable chocolate dessert may initially evoke approach motives and actions, but this can be overridden by thoughts about the likelihood of weight gain that ultimately engage the withdrawal system. The main point here is that it is important to understand how the activation of rudimentary approach and avoidance systems might interface with higher-order judgment and decision making. More specifically, the current research examined the influence of approach vs. avoidance actions and traits on people's judgments of optimism about experiencing positive vs. negative future outcomes. The link between the concepts of approach-avoidance and optimism will be discussed in more detail later, but first I will broadly discuss the concept of optimism.

Optimism about the Future

Humans are constantly focused on what their futures hold. Importantly, whether people are optimistic or pessimistic about uncertain outcomes can have a profound influence on people's actual futures, experiences, intentions, decisions, and actions (cf. Armor & Taylor, 1998; Fishburn, 1988; Janz & Becker, 1984; Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Mellers & McGraw, 2001; Olson, Roese, & Zanna, 1996; Weinstein, 1988). For example, future-directed thoughts are an important determinant of anxiety and depression (Ahrens & Haaga, 1993), illness recovery (Taylor & Brown, 1988), preparation to achieve a gain or prevent a loss (Forster, Grant, Idson, & Higgins, 2001), and risk-taking behaviors (Weinstein, 1988). In fact, contrary to the attitude of the novelist in the opening quotation, thinking about and planning for the future has been a key survival tool in our evolutionary history (cf. Gilbert & Wilson, 2008).

There are numerous ways that researchers have studied future-directed thinking, most of which focus on whether people are optimistic or pessimistic (for overviews see Armor & Taylor, 1998; Buehler, Griffin, & Ross, 2002; Helweg-Larsen & Shepperd, 2001; Klein & Zajac, 2009; Weinstein & Klein, 1996). The most common approach to studying optimism is to examine whether one's generalized expectancies are optimistic or pessimistic (Dember, Martin, Hummer, Howe, & Melton, 1989; Scheier & Caver, 1985; Scheier, Carver, & Bridges, 1994). However, more relevant to the current research, a second approach to studying optimism is to examine what might be termed *situationspecific optimism* (Klein & Zajac, 2009). For example, studies have asked participants to make specific predictions about exam performances, tax completion times, the longevity of romantic relationships, work success, the outcomes of sporting events, and illness susceptibility (e.g., Armor & Sackett, 2006; Bar-Hillel, Budescu, & Amar, 2008; Buehler, Griffin, & MacDonald, 1997; Buehler, Griffin, & Ross, 1995; Irwin, 1953; Price, 2000; Weinstein, 1980, 1987).

In the current research, I will focus on people's optimism judgments about experiencing a range of specific positive and negative future life events (e.g., living past the age of 80, developing cancer). In the vast literature that has examined people's judgments about their chances of experiencing various outcomes, the predominant conclusion appears to be that people are quite optimistic. Indeed, hundreds of studies have documented that people typically report being more likely to experience positive than negative future outcomes, and that people believe this to be more true for themselves than for other people (see reviews in Armor & Taylor, 1998; Chambers & Windschitl, 2004; Helweg-Larsen & Shepperd, 2001; Krizan & Windschitl, 2007). Moreover, there are also many occasions when people's predictions are more optimistic than is warranted by objective indicators or actual outcomes, such as when people underestimate the time it will take to complete certain tasks (for review see Buehler et al., 2002).

A number of theories and factors appear to account for so-called optimistic biases. For instance, some work has focused on motivations to preserve self-esteem, maintain pleasant moods, facilitate interpersonal liking, and encourage goal pursuit (e.g., see Helweg-Larsen, Sadeghian, & Webb, 2002; Regan, Snyder, & Kassim, 1995; Segerstrom, Taylor, Kemeny, & Fahey, 1998; Taylor & Brown, 1988). Other work has focused on cognitive factors, such as heuristics and information processing biases (see reviews in Chambers & Windschitl, 2004; Krizan & Windschitl, 2007). Still other work has focused on the role of personality and individual difference factors in shaping whether a person shows optimistic biases (e.g., Harris, Griffin, & Murray, 2008).

The current work can be viewed in the context of other work examining the role of chronic and temporary subjective experiences in shaping optimism (see also Clore & Gasper, 2000; Lerner & Gonzalez, 2005; Schwarz, 1990, 2006; Schwarz & Clore, 1996). In particular, the current experiments examined how rudimentary approach-avoidance signals or experiences might shape people's likelihood judgments about future positive and negative outcomes. Notably, there is a connection between the way that optimism biases have been described and the overall concept of approach-avoidance. In particular, the predominant tendency for people to have inflated likelihood judgments about experiencing desirable outcomes but deflated likelihood judgments about experiencing undesirable outcomes seems highly consistent with the aforementioned notion that we reflexively approach pleasure but avoid pain. This potential connection, which is discussed in more detail below, was the main impetus for conducting the current research.

The Connection between Approach-Avoidance and Optimism

Two primary conclusions from the preceding sections can be summarized in the following way. First, we have an approach system that is associated with processing and judgment for positive possibilities and an avoidance system that is associated with processing and judgment for negative possibilities. Second, people judge that they are more likely to experience positive possibilities than negative possibilities. I will first note three, broad connections between the ways that these two ideas have been formulated, suggesting the potential for approach-avoidance cues to play a role in shaping optimism judgments. A later section articulates the specific hypotheses for the current research.

First, various conceptualizations of approach-avoidance actually allude to futuredirected thought. For instance, the approach system has been described as involving feelings of hope and optimism about the future, whereas the avoidance system has been described as involving feelings of worry, anxiety, and pessimism (Gable et al., 2000; Gray, 1987, 1990, 1994). A related idea is that classifying an individual as depressed (a condition associated with low approach sensitivity) vs. anxious (a condition associated with high avoidance sensitivity) critically involves the presence of hopelessness vs. fear about the future (Abramson, Metalsky, & Alloy, 1989; Ahrens & Haaga, 1993; Andersen, Spielman, & Bargh, 1992; Clark and Watson, 1991; Clark, Watson, & Mineka, 1994; MacLeod & Byrne, 1996; MacLeod, Byrne, & Valentine, 1996; MacLeod, Tata, Kentish, & Jacobsen, 1997; Miranda & Mennin, 2007).

Second, in the health psychology literature, approach-avoidance coping strategies are sometimes described in conjunction with the concept of future-directed thought. For instance, one can cope with illness by actively hoping that positive outcomes are likely or by reframing a situation to make a positive outcome seem attainable. On the other hand, one can also cope via avoidant strategies that may involve denying the potential for negative outcomes (Carver & Scheier, 1981; Rasmussen, Wrosch, Scheier, & Carver, 2006; Scheier & Carver, 1985, 2003). Relatedly, dispositional optimists are more likely to use approach-oriented coping strategies and less likely to use avoidance-oriented coping strategies than are dispositional pessimists (Solberg Nes & Segerstrom, 2006) (for general reviews on approach-avoidance coping, see Gol & Cook, 2004; Gutierrez, Peri, Torres, Caseras, & Valdes, 2007; Suls & Fletcher, 1985).

Third, optimism biases are sometimes described with implicit reference to approach-avoidance. For instance, when a person reports that positive outcomes are likely, this may be viewed as the person cognitively "approaching" the possibility by verifying its chance of happening. On the other hand, when a person reports that negative outcomes are unlikely, this may be viewed as the person cognitively "avoiding" the possibility by rejecting its chance of happening (see similar arguments in Lench, 2009).

In sum, there are broad conceptualizations of approach-avoidance that directly reference the notion of future-directed thought or optimism (and vice versa). The critical question for my purposes was how approach- and avoidance- related cues from motor signals and chronic traits might specifically influence the optimism judgments people make about experiencing positive and negative future life events. In the next section, I provide more detail about the goals of this research, discuss the operationalizations of approach-avoidance, and outline the main hypotheses.

Current Research

Goals and Operationalizations

The goal of this research was to examine the relationship between approachavoidance and people's optimism judgments. Approach-avoidance was operationalized in two different ways. The primary operationalization was to use arm flexion vs. extension motor movements as triggers for the approach vs. avoidance motivational systems. In these experiments, participants judged whether a range of positive and negative life events might happen while simultaneously engaged in an approach-related motor movement associated with bringing something positive toward oneself or an avoidance-related motor movement associated with pushing something negative away from oneself. As stated previously, there has been a wealth of research showing that simply engaging arm flexion vs. extension can have a profound influence on cognitive and emotional processing, suggesting the triggering of approach vs. avoidance systems (for an overview see Neumann, Forster, & Strack, 2003).

A secondary operationalization of approach-avoidance involved chronic dispositions or traits that have been linked to these dimensions (Carver & White, 1994; Elliot & Thrash, 2001; Watson et al., 1999; Zelenski & Larsen, 2002). In particular, there were two core traits that were used in the current experiments, each of which could be orthogonally separated into general tendencies for approach vs. avoidance sensitivity. First, participants' general sensitivity to threats vs. rewards was assessed using the Behavioral Inhibition and Activation Systems measure (BIS-BAS; Carver & White, 1994). Second, participants' general tendencies to experience positive affect vs. negative affect was assessed using the Positive and Negative Affectivity Schedule (PANAS; Watson, Clark, & Tellegen, 1988).

The current experiments were designed to examine how the activation of approach vs. avoidance systems would impact people's likelihood judgments. In Experiment 1, participants judged their chances of experiencing a range of future life outcomes on 7-point likelihood scales (1=not at all likely; 7=very likely). Some of the events were positive in valence (e.g., "You will live past the age of 80"), some were negative in valence (e.g., "You will develop cancer"), and some were neutral in valence (e.g., "You will own a white car"). Critically, while making these assessments of likelihood, participants either flexed their arms toward their body by pulling up on a table, extended their arms away from their body by pushing down on a table, or were in a control condition (for similar manipulations, see Cacioppo et al., 1993; Forster, 2003, 2004; Friedman & Forster, 2002; Neumann & Strack, 2000; Riis & Schwarz, 2003; van Prooijen, Karremans, & van Beest, 2006). Participants also provided self-report ratings

on the aforementioned approach-avoidance personality traits. Although I have already alluded to the broad connections between approach-avoidance and optimism, the next section outlines specific hypotheses for this research.

Hypotheses

Although there has not heretofore been any systematic research fully addressing these issues, I will outline three theoretical accounts based on logic and relevant extant work. In particular, I will first outline the primary account for the results – the *compatibility-incompatibility account*. Although results following this account were expected, I also consider two competing accounts that also had some plausibility – the *general-outlook account* and the *effective action account*.

Compatibility-Incompatibility Account

The first possibility was that the activation of approach vs. avoidance systems would have very specific influences on likelihood judgments, based upon whether the valence of the event was compatible or incompatible with the underlying system. As alluded to in a previous section, approach and avoidance are often conceptualized as having valence-specific functions, where the approach system is most highly associated with processing and judgment for positive events and the avoidance system is most highly associated with processing and judgment for negative events (see Cacioppo et al., 1993; Centerbar et al., 2008; Forster & Friedman, 2008; Friedman & Strack, 2000). For the current research, this suggests that an active approach system should make people especially sensitive to the possibility for positive outcomes, but have no influence on responses to negative or neutral outcomes. Likewise, an active avoidance system should make people especially sensitive to the possibility for negative outcomes, but have no influence on influence on responses to positive or neutral outcomes. The specific predictions based on this account can be described as follows.

First, consider the situation where there is high activation of the approach system via arm flexion. Activation of the approach system should make thoughts and evidence

relevant to positive outcomes much more salient than in other conditions in the experiment (i.e., arm extension and resting conditions), which should increase people's perceptions that such outcomes will occur. Likewise, activation of the avoidance system via arm extension should make thoughts and evidence relevant to negative outcomes more salient and hence increase people's perceptions that such outcomes will occur. In short, engaging in a motor action that is compatible, as opposed to incompatible, with the valence of the event should make the event particularly easy to think about and, hence, seem more certain to occur (cf. Koehler, 1991; Raune, MacLeod, & Holmes, 2005; Schwarz, 1998; Schwarz & Clore, 1996; Schwarz et al., 1991; Sherman, Cialdini, Schwartzman, & Reynolds, 1985). See Appendix A for a graphical display of this prediction.

Second, similar predictions can be formulated for the results involving chronic tendencies for approach-avoidance and their correspondence with likelihood judgments. For instance, consider someone who is chronically high in approach sensitivity, such as having high scores on positive affectivity. The compatibility-incompatibility account would suggest that someone high in approach sensitivity should be chronically sensitive to positive outcomes, which should make information about such outcomes more salient and hence seem more likely. This predicted pattern would emerge as a positive correlation between trait measures of approach and likelihood judgments for positive events. Critically for this account, trait measures of approach should be uncorrelated with likelihood judgments for negative and neutral events – events that are incompatible with the underlying approach dimension. The opposite pattern of results should be true when considering chronic avoidance sensitivity, such as having high scores on negative affectivity. In particular, someone high in avoidance sensitivity should be chronically sensitive to negative (but not positive or neutral) outcomes, which should make such outcomes more salient and hence seem more likely. This predicted pattern would emerge as a positive correlation between trait measures of avoidance and likelihood judgments

for negative events, whereas trait measures of avoidance should be uncorrelated with likelihood judgments for positive and neutral events. See Appendix B for a graphical display of this hypothesis.

To support this theoretical position, there is scattered evidence that is consistent with this account. For instance, a few studies have shown that approach emotions, such as curiosity, are more correlated with judgments about positive outcomes than negative outcomes. On the other hand, a person's experience of avoidance emotions, such as fear, have been shown to be more correlated with judgments about negative outcomes than positive outcomes (Maner & Gerend, 2008; Peters & Slovic, 2000; for related see DeSteno, Petty, Wegener, & Rucker, 2000). Conceptually similar evidence involves likelihood judgments made by anxious and depressed individuals. Critically for the current discussion, anxiety has been conceptualized as involving high avoidance emotions, whereas depression has been conceptualized as involving both high avoidance emotions and low approach emotions (Clark and Watson, 1991; Clark et al., 1994). Although both anxious and depressed individuals are more pessimistic than control participants, the *compatibility-incompatibility account* suggests that one's degree of anxiety should only correlate with likelihood judgments for negative events, whereas one's degree of depression should correlate with both likelihood judgments for positive events and negative events. This is precisely what has been found (Miranda & Mennin, 2007; see also Andersen et al., 1992; MacLeod & Byrne, 1996; Strunk, Lopez, & DeRubeis, 2006). Thus, consistent with most conceptualizations of approach-avoidance (see Elliot & Thrash, 2002; Watson et al., 1999), overall this account suggests that the activation of the approach system will be associated with increased sensitivity to, and likelihood judgments about, positive outcomes/rewards, whereas the avoidance system will be associated with sensitivity to, and likelihood judgments about, negative outcomes/threats.

13

General-Outlook Account

Although the *compatibility-incompatibility account* is the preferred theoretical account for the current research, there are also two additional accounts that seem plausible. The first of these is the *general-outlook account*. As the name implies, this account suggests that the activation of approach vs. avoidance systems will change people's outlooks or likelihood judgments about the future in a very general manner. More explicitly, this account suggests that the activation of the approach system will tend to bring up evidence or information relevant to the notion that both good things are likely and that bad things are unlikely. On the other hand, the activation of the avoidance system will tend to bring up evidence or information relevant to the notion that both bad things are likely and that good things are unlikely. The specific predictions based on this account can be described as follows.

First, consider the situation where there is high activation of the approach system via arm flexion. This account would suggest that the activation of this system should make experienced thoughts and emotions generally positive, which might cause likelihood judgments for positive events to be higher than in other conditions and likelihood judgments for negative events to be lower than other in conditions (i.e., relative to arm extension and relaxed arm conditions). On the other hand, high activation of the avoidance system via arm extension should make experienced thoughts and emotions generally negative, which might cause likelihood judgments for negative events to be higher than in other conditions and likelihood judgments for positive events to be lower than in other conditions (i.e., relative to arm flexion and resting conditions). See Appendix A for a graphical display of this prediction.

Second, similar predictions can be formulated for the results involving chronic tendencies for approach-avoidance and their correspondence with likelihood judgments. For instance, consider someone who is chronically high in approach sensitivity, such as having high scores on positive affectivity. The *general-outlook account* would suggest

that someone high in approach sensitivity generally experiences more positive thoughts and emotions, which might be associated with more optimism about experiencing good events and not experiencing bad events. This predicted pattern would emerge as a positive correlation between trait measures of approach and likelihood judgments for positive events and a negative correlation between trait measures of approach and likelihood judgments for negative events. The opposite pattern of results should be true when considering chronic avoidance sensitivity, such as having high scores on negative affectivity. In particular, someone high in avoidance sensitivity might chronically experience more negative thoughts and emotions, which might be associated with more pessimism about experiencing bad events and not experiencing good events. This predicted pattern would emerge as a negative correlation between trait measures of avoidance and likelihood judgments for positive events and a positive correlation between trait measures of avoidance and likelihood judgments for negative events. Likelihood judgments about neutral events would not be expected to relate to approachavoidance trait measures. See Appendix B for a graphical display of this hypothesis.

To support this theoretical position, there is scattered evidence consistent with this account as well. For instance, there are many studies in which researchers have manipulated moods to be positive or negative and then measured the impact on likelihood judgment. A common finding is that approach-related mood inductions, such as happiness and anger, tend to inflate likelihood judgments about positive events and deflate likelihood judgments about negative events (relative to control conditions). On the other hand, avoidance-related mood inductions, such as sadness and fear, tend to inflate likelihood judgments about negative events and deflate likelihood judgments about positive events (relative to control conditions) (e.g., Johnson & Tversky, 1983; Lerner & Gonzalez, 2005; Lerner & Keltner, 2001; Salovey & Birnbaum, 1989; Wright & Bower, 1992). One explanation for such effects is that approach cues and moods (e.g., happiness) cause future-focused appraisals to be certain and controllable and hence

generally produce optimism. On the other hand, avoidance cues and moods (e.g., fear) cause future-focused appraisals to be uncertain and uncontrollable and hence generally produce pessimism (Lerner & Gonzalez, 2005; Lerner & Keltner, 2001; see also Lerner & Keltner, 2000). A conceptually similar result comes from Zelenski & Larsen (2002), where they showed that the degree to which people experienced approach-relevant traits, such as positive affect, had predictive utility for judgments about both positive and negative events. Likewise, the degree to which people experienced avoidance-relevant traits, such as negative affect, also had some predictive utility for judgments about both positive about both positive and negative events (see related result in Coats, Janoff-Bulman, & Alpert, 1996). Effective Action Account

The second of the alternative accounts to the compatibility-incompatibility account is the effective action account. Like the compatibility-incompatibility account, this account presumes that the activation of approach vs. avoidance systems will have very specific influences on likelihood judgments, based upon whether the valence of the event is compatible or incompatible with the underlying system. Said differently, an active approach system should make people especially sensitive to the possibility for positive outcomes, but have no influence on responses to negative or neutral outcomes. Likewise, an active avoidance system should make people especially sensitive to the possibility for negative outcomes, but have no influence on responses to positive or neutral outcomes. However, the exact nature of the influence on likelihood judgments is somewhat different here than with the compatibility-incompatibility account. The specific predictions based on this account can be described as follows.

First, consider the situation where there is high activation of the approach system via arm flexion. This account suggests that the activation of the approach system should make desirable possibilities seem particularly attractive and attainable (relative arm extension and resting conditions), which should increase people's perceptions that such outcomes will occur. The underlying idea here is that sensory input associated with

"pulling" a positive outcome toward the self is quite effective in making people believe such an outcome is likely, perhaps because it now feels close to the self. On the other hand, activation of the avoidance system via arm extension should make undesirable possibilities seem particularly unattractive (relative to arm flexion and resting conditions), which should lead people to deny the possibility for such an outcome to occur. The underlying idea here is that sensory input associated with "pushing" a negative outcome away from the self is quite effective in making people believe such an outcome is unlikely, perhaps because it now feels distant from the self. This account is called the *effective action account* because engaging in an *action* that is compatible with the valence of the event will be *effective* at allowing a person to feel that they can procure desirable rewards (by pulling such rewards close) and avoid undesirable threats (by pushing such threats away). See Appendix A for a graphical display of this hypothesis.

Second, similar predictions can be formulated for the results involving chronic tendencies for approach-avoidance and their correspondence with likelihood judgments. For instance, consider someone who is chronically high in approach sensitivity, such as having high scores on positive affectivity. The *effective action account* would suggest that someone who is chronically high in approach sensitivity should find positive outcomes to be particularly attractive and attainable, which should inflate likelihood judgments about such outcomes. This predicted pattern would emerge as a positive correlation between trait measures of approach and likelihood judgments for positive events. As with the *compatibility-incompatibility account*, trait measures of approach would be expected to be uncorrelated with likelihood judgments for negative and neutral events. Now consider someone who is chronically high in avoidance sensitivity, such as having high scores on negative affectivity. The *effective action account* would suggest that someone who has high avoidance sensitivity should find negative outcomes to be particularly unattractive and attainable, which should lead to defensive denial and deflated likelihood judgments about such outcomes. This predicted pattern would

emerge as a negative correlation between trait measures of avoidance and likelihood judgments for negative events. As with the *compatibility-incompatibility account*, trait measures of avoidance would be expected to be uncorrelated with likelihood judgments for positive and neutral events. See Appendix B for a graphical display of this hypothesis.

To support this theoretical position, there is also scattered evidence consistent with this account. First, as previously mentioned, several studies have shown that participants engaging in arm flexion rate initially positive stimuli as even more desirable than participants in control conditions. On the other hand, participants engaging in arm extension rate initially negative stimuli as even less desirable than participants in control conditions. However, arm flexion does not change evaluations of negative stimuli relative to controls, and arm extension does not change evaluations of positive stimuli relative to controls (Cacioppo et al., 1994; Forster, 2004; although see Centerbar & Clore, 2006). This is important given that numerous studies have discussed the idea that people are prone to desirability biases, where people inflate likelihood judgments for an outcome as it increases in perceived desirability (Lench, 2009; Lench & Ditto, 2008; Price, 2000; Windschitl, Smith, Rose, & Krizan, under review; although see Krizan & Windschitl, 2007). If flexion vs. extension change perceptions of desirability for a relevant positive vs. negative outcome, respectively, then this might also change perceptions of likelihood for such outcomes. Moreover, descriptions of optimism or desirability biases appear to reference the concept of approach-avoidance by suggesting that people cognitively "approach" positive outcomes by inflating likelihood judgments but "avoid" negative outcomes by deflating likelihood judgments. Consistent with this logic, Lench (2009) recently showed that the activation of the approach system from incidental affect (e.g., subconsciously presented positive images) inflated likelihood judgments about experiencing positive events. On the other hand, activation of the avoidance system from incidental affect (e.g., subconsciously presented negative images) deflated likelihood

judgments about experiencing negative events (see related results in Lench & Ditto, 2008; Windschitl et al., under review). The logic here is that incidental positive affect should make positive events seem particularly attractive and produce greater desires to "approach" such events by acknowledging their chance of occurrence. On the other hand, incidental negative affect should make negative events seem particularly unattractive and produce greater desires to "avoid" such events by denying their chance of occurrence.
CHAPTER II

TESTING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN APPROACH-AVOIDANCE TRAITS/ MOTOR SIGNALS AND OPTIMISM ABOUT FUTURE LIFE EVENTS Overview

The primary goal of Experiment 1 was to examine the causal influence of approach-avoidance motor cues on likelihood judgment. Participants were first provided with a cover story involving brain hemisphere activity and cognitive processing, where they were told that a common way to engage hemisphere-specific brain activity was to manipulate motor movements. At a critical point in the experiment, participants either flexed their arms by pulling up on a table (an action associated with approach), extended their arms by pushing down on a table (an action associated with avoidance), or relaxed their arms by placing them across their laps (a control condition). Importantly, while engaged in the relevant motor movement, participants simultaneously made likelihood judgments about experiencing 6 positive, 6 negative, and 6 neutral events in the future. This primary analysis for the experiment was conducted on the mean likelihood judgments across a 3 (arm position: flexion, extension, or relaxed) X 3 (event type: positive, negative, or neutral) mixed design, with the last factor manipulated within subjects.

A secondary goal for Experiment 1 involved the relationship between people's chronic approach-avoidance tendencies and their likelihood judgments. After the main procedures described above were completed, participants provided self-ratings about their dispositional tendencies to experience the following approach and avoidance related emotions and motivations: 1) reward vs. threat sensitivity (i.e., BAS vs. BIS; Carver & White, 1994) and 2) positive vs. negative affectivity (Watson et al., 1988). This secondary goal involved an examination of correlations between these trait measures and likelihood judgments made for the 3 types of events.

As stated previously, the main hypothesis for the results followed from the *compatibility-incompatibility account*. This was tested against two additionally plausible accounts: the *general-outlook* and *effective action accounts*. Appendices A and B display graphical representations of these accounts.

Method

Participants and Design

125 students from an Elementary Psychology course at the University of Iowa served as participants in order to satisfy a class requirement. The design was a 3 (arm position: flexion, extension, or relaxed) X 3 (event valence: positive, negative, or neutral) mixed design, with the last factor manipulated within subjects.

Procedure and Dependent Measures

Upon arrival to the lab and after completing informed consent documents, participants were told they were in a study about the effects of left vs. right brain hemisphere activity on cognitive processing and judgment. Participants were also told that they had been "randomly assigned" to be in a right hemisphere condition and that a standard way to promote activity in this hemisphere was to assume a particular body position (participants in the relaxed arm conditions were told they were in a control condition). The experimenter then demonstrated the arm flexion, arm extension, or relaxed arm position (depending upon condition). For the arm flexion position, participants pressed their left palm underneath the table, keeping their arms at a 90 degree angle, and pulling upwards lightly. For the arm extension position, participants pressed their left palm on top of the table, keeping their arms at a 90 degree angle, and pushing downwards lightly. For the relaxed position, participants placed their left arms across their laps.¹

¹ This cover story and manipulation have been used in dozens of studies, by different research groups, and produce relatively healthy effects across a range of dependent measures (see e.g., Cacioppo et al., 1993; Centerbar & Clore, 2006; Centerbar et al., 2008; Forster, 2004; Friedman & Forster, 2002; Gawronski et al., 2005; Neumann & Strack, 2000; Riis & Schwarz, 2003; van Prooijen et al., 2006).

After reading basic instructions on the computer, participants were told that they would soon make judgments about a series of life events that may or may not happen to them in the future. Before beginning this judgment task, participants were prompted by the computer to place their left arms into the position demonstrated earlier by the experimenter and to use their free hand to operate the mouse. While assuming the relevant arm position, participants made likelihood and desirability judgments about experiencing 18 future life events. Six of these events were positive in valence (e.g., "You will have a long and happy marriage"), 6 of the events were negative in valence (e.g., "You will be injured in a car crash), and 6 of the events were neutral in valence (e.g., "You will go on a trip to Texas").² See Appendix C for all events.

For the main dependent measure, participants judged their likelihoods for experiencing the events. In particular, while maintaining the relevant arm position, participants judged how likely each event was to happen to them in the future on 7-point scales (1=not at all likely; 7=very likely). Likelihood judgments for the 18 events were made one at a time and in a randomly presented order. While still in the relevant arm position, participants also answered what might be considered a manipulation check for the valence of the selected events. More explicitly, participants judged the desirability of experiencing each of the 18 events on 7-point scales (1=not at all desirable; 7=very desirable). During this entire phase of the study, participants were encouraged to do their best to maintain the arm position but were allowed to rest their arms periodically.

Following the main task, participants returned to a comfortable arm position and answered a number of supplemental questions. The first set of measures included commonly used items to establish whether there are different experiences associated with arm flexion vs. extension. First, participants rated their current mood using the Positive

 $^{^2}$ Note that the specific positive, negative and neutral events were derived from previous work (see Price, Smith, & Lench, 2006; Weinstein, 1980, 1987), where I attempted to select events that were balanced across the 3 valence types in terms of frequency and controllability.

and Negative Affectivity Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). The PANAS is a selfreport scale of mood with 20 items that assess the current intensity of positive (e.g., alertness, activity) and negative affect (e.g., anger, fear). More explicitly, participants rated the extent to which they were currently experiencing each mood term on 5-point scales (1=*very slightly or not at all*; 5=*extremely*). Second, participants estimated how much effort it took to maintain the arm position (1=*not at all effortful*; 7=*very effortful*). Third, participants estimated how comfortable the arm position was (1=*not at all comfortable*; 7=*very comfortable*).

For the second set of supplemental measures, participants answered questions about their personality traits. Specifically, participants' general sensitivity to reward vs. punishment was assessed using the Behavioral Inhibition and Activation Systems measure (BIS-BAS; Carver & White, 1994). The BIS-BAS is a self-report scale in which participants rate their extent of agreement to 20 statements related to their general orientation or sensitivity toward desirable outcomes (e.g., "When I want something, I usually go all-out to get it", "I go out of my way to get things I want") vs. undesirable outcomes (e.g., "Criticism or scolding hurts me quite a bit", "I worry about making mistakes"). For analysis purposes, the former set of responses was collapsed into an index of reward sensitivity (BAS; α =.62) and the latter set of responses was collapsed into an index of punishment sensitivity (BIS; α =.76). Second, participants indicated their general tendencies to experience positive vs. negative affect using the Positive and Negative Affectivity Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). The PANAS is a selfreport scale in which participants rate the intensity with which they generally experience a series of 10 positive (e.g., pride, determined) and 10 negative affect-related traits (e.g., nervous, scared). For analysis purposes, these items were collapsed into one index for positive affect (PA; α =.88) and one index for negative affect (NA; α =.84). Appendix D displays the intercorrelations among these subscales.

Finally, after answering all individual difference questions, participants provided demographic information, reported what they believed to be the purpose of the experiment, and were fully debriefed and dismissed.

<u>Results</u>

Preliminary Analyses

Desirability Judgments

For the first set of preliminary analyses, I examined whether the manipulation of event valence was successful by analyzing the desirability judgment data. After aggregating desirability judgments made for each valence type (positive, negative, and neutral), the resulting means were submitted to a repeated-measures ANOVA with event valence as the independent factor. The overall ANOVA detected a robust main effect of event valence, F(2, 121) = 1054.23, p < .01, confirming that the manipulation of event valence was successful. Indeed, the events that were pre-selected to be positive were judged as more desirable (M=6.50, SD=0.62) than events selected to be neutral (M=3.96, SD=0.88), t(124) = 27.50, p < .01. And the events selected to be neutral were, in turn, judged to be more desirable than events selected to be negative (M=1.25, SD=0.56), t(124) = 30.42, p < .01. Furthermore, the robust effect of event valence did not depend upon the arm position, as the arm position X event valence interaction was not significant, F(4, 244) = .06, p > .10.

Effects of Arm Position on Mood, Effort, and Comfort

Next, I wanted to ensure that mood and comfort/effort did not differ across the arm positions used in the current study – with particular interest in comparing the arm flexion and extension conditions. When submitting overall mood scores (PA total minus NA total) to an ANOVA with arm position as the independent factor, there were no significant differences across the 3 arm positions, F(2, 122) = .71, p < .10. More important was the fact that there was no difference between the arm flexion and extension conditions, t(124) = .24, p > .10. When submitting the effort and comfort ratings to

individual ANOVAs with arm position as the independent factor, there were significant differences in both these variables (Fs > 30, ps < .01). Not surprisingly, the relaxed arm position was rated as more comfortable and less effortful than both arm flexion and extension (|ts|>10, ps < .01). More important, however, was the fact that there were no significant differences between the arm flexion and extension conditions on effort or comfort (|ts|<.40, ps > .10). Overall, from these analyses I can be confident that any significant impact of arm flexion and extension on the main dependent measures was not due to changes in mood, effort, or comfort.

Primary Analyses

The main analysis in Experiment 1 involved examining whether likelihood judgments differed as a function of event valence and arm position. To analyze these results, separate mean likelihood judgments were first created for each of the 3 types of events. These means were then submitted to a 3 (arm position: flexion, extension, or relaxed) X 3 (event valence: positive, negative, or neutral) ANOVA with a repeated measure on the last factor. Table F1 contains the means and *SD*s across all 9 cells in the design and Figure F1 provides a visual display of these means.

The overall ANOVA detected a significant main effect of valence, F(2, 121) =200.42. As can be seen from Figure F1, participants reported the highest likelihood judgments for the set of positive events (*M*=5.06, *SD*=0.72), as compared to both the set of neutral events (*M*=3.84; *SD*=0.88) and the set of negative events (*M*=3.02, *SD*=0.84) (*ts*>11, *ps*<.01). Additionally, the set of neutral events elicited significantly higher likelihood judgments than did the set of negative events, *t* (124) = 9.42, *p* < .01. The main effect of arm position was not significant, *F* (2, 122) = 0.99, *p* > .10, suggesting that engagement in motor flexion vs. extension (vs. resting) had no general impact on likelihood judgment. Critically for the primary *compatibility-incompatibility account*, the arm position X event valence interaction was also not significant, *F* (4, 244) = 0.43, *p* > .10.

Secondary Analyses

This section reports on the association between the personality traits related to approach-avoidance and likelihood judgments. First, the BAS-BIS measure was used to create indices of reward sensitivity (BAS) and punishment sensitivity (BIS). Second, the PANAS measure was used to create indices of general experiences of positive affect (PA) and negative affect (NA). After creating these 4 indices, a series of zero-order correlations and regression analyses were conducted to test the relationship between these traits and participants' likelihood judgments about experiencing positive, negative and neutral events. Table F2 displays these correlations.

First, I consider the results involving the likelihood judgments for positive events. Table F2 shows that increases in PA and BAS were associated with increases in likelihood judgments for experiencing positive events. On the other hand, the tendency to be high or low on NA and BIS did not tend to correspond with likelihood judgments for positive events. Regression analyses confirmed this relationship, where the particular approach and avoidance measures were simultaneously entered as predictor variables (e.g., PA and NA) and the mean likelihood judgments for positive events were the criterion. Overall, these analyses showed that participants' reports of their approach-relevant traits accounted for more variance in likelihood judgments about positive events (all β s > .23, *p*s < .01; mean β for BAS/PA = .30, *SE* = .06) than did participants' reports of their avoidance-relevant traits (all β s < -.13, *p*s > .10; mean β for BIS/NA = -.09, *SE*=.06).

Second, I consider the results involving likelihood judgments for negative events. Table F2 shows that increases in PA and BAS tended to be associated with decreases in likelihood judgments for experiencing negative events, whereas increases in NA and BIS tended to be associated with increases in likelihood judgments for negative events (although only the correlations for PA and NA were statistically significant). Indeed, regression analyses conducted similarly to what was described above for positive events showed that approach-relevant and avoidance-relevant traits accounted for similar levels of variance in likelihood judgments for negative events (mean β for PA/BAS = -.26, SE = .08 and mean β for NA/BIS = .16, SE = .08).

Third and finally, I consider the results involving likelihood judgments for neutral events. Generally speaking, these types of events were added as control events and were not expected to correlate with the relevant trait measures of approach-avoidance (see Appendix B). As can be seen in Table F2, this expectation was generally confirmed (with the exception of the correlation with NA).³

Discussion

Summary of the Results

Before presenting a deeper discussion of the findings, a brief summary of the main results is presented below:

- Participants provided the highest likelihood judgments about experiencing
 positive life events, which were significantly higher than likelihood judgments
 about experiencing neutral life events, which were in turn significantly higher
 than likelihood judgments about experiencing negative life events.
- Arm flexion and extension had no main or interactive effects on likelihood judgments.
- Trait measures of approach-avoidance did correlate with likelihood judgments for positive and negative (but not neutral) life events, although the specific nature of the relationship was complex. First, greater reports of approach-relevant experiences (PA, BAS) were associated with higher likelihood judgments about positive events and lower likelihood judgments about negative events. Second,

³ I also conducted analyses for the interaction between the motor movement manipulation of approach-avoidance (arm flexion vs. extension) and the trait measures of approach-avoidance (PA/BAS vs. NA/BIS), in terms of the influence on likelihood judgments for positive and negative events. Overall, these analyses did not produce any interpretable or systematic patterns of results and will not be discussed further.

greater reports of avoidance-relevant experiences (NA, BIS) were associated with higher likelihood judgments about negative events but were unrelated to likelihood judgments for positive events. These two findings support conflicting accounts. Namely, they support the *general-outlook* and *compatibilityincompatibility accounts*, respectively (see Appendix B).

Are Approach-Avoidance and Optimism Related? Approach-Avoidance Motor Signals and Optimism

The primary goal of Experiment 1 was to test whether approach- and avoidancerelated motor signals had a causal impact on likelihood judgments. And, if so, what was the nature of this relationship.

In general, when considering their likelihoods of experiencing the various life events in Experiment 1, participants judged positive events to be significantly more likely to occur than neutral events, which were in turn judged to be significantly more likely to occur than negative events. This pattern is consistent with the oft-documented optimistic biases (for reviews see Armor & Taylor, 1998; Chambers & Windschitl, 2004; Helweg-Larsen & Shepperd, 2001; Krizan & Windschitl, 2007). However, it is notable that this pattern of results cannot conclusively be interpreted as evidence that the desirability of the event, per se, was the source of bias. Given that the events were handpicked from a seemingly endless set of real-world relevant outcomes, there could be numerous other differences in the events besides valence/desirability that could account for the results (see Krizan & Windschitl, 2007). Regardless, the more important result for the current research was that approach-avoidance motor signals did not have any main or interactive effects on likelihood judgments. This leads to the question of why approach-avoidance motor signals might have had a limited impact in Experiment 1. Two possibilities are considered.

First, it is notable that the desirability and likelihood judgments for the set of events were very extreme, where positive events were rated as highly desirable and very likely and negative events were rated as not at all desirable and quite unlikely. This meant there was the possibility of ceiling and floor effects on the likelihood judgments, perhaps due to rather extreme affective reactions from thinking about very desirable positive events and very undesirable negative events (Lench, 2009; Lench & Ditto, 2008). Assuming this to be true, it was possible that the manipulation of event valence was so powerful to the point that it overwhelmed any minor effects from motor signals. Moreover, this logic seems consistent with extant work in the arm flexion-extension paradigm. Notably, much of the work examining the effects of arm flexion-extension on cognitive and emotional processing do not use stimuli (e.g., attitude objects) that are extremely strong in initial positivity or negativity (e.g., Cacioppo et al., 1993; Centerbar & Clore, 2006; Forster, 2004). The consequence of using stimuli that are inherently and strongly positive or negative in these paradigms is that, "With strong attitudes, [the] direct influence of prior attitude should overshadow any compatibility [effects from arm flexion-extension]" (pg. 28 in Centerbar & Clore, 2006; see also Forster, 2004). Instead, the majority of extant work in this paradigm has used stimuli that are viewed as slightly positive or negative initially, and become more strongly evaluated or attended to under conditions of arm flexion or extension.

A second possibility as to why approach-avoidance motor signals had no causal impact on likelihood judgments involves the dependent measure used in Experiment 1 to assess optimism. In particular, scaled likelihood judgments (relative to other types of uncertainty judgments) have been described as involving more effortful cognitive processing, a more elaborate consideration of evidence, and perhaps a heightened sense that a judgment is subject to accuracy evaluations (cf. Klein & Zajac, 2009; Krizan & Windschitl, 2007; Windschitl et al., under review; Windschitl & Wells, 1996; see also, Kirkpatrick & Epstein, 1992; Windschitl & Chambers, 2004; Windschitl, Martin, & Flugstad, 2002). Critically, this type of measure is quite different from commonly used dependent measures in studies involving arm flexion-extension. Notably, approachavoidance signals and their effects are typically discussed as having more of an affective, automatic, and reflexive influence on cognitive and emotional processing. Indeed, most studies in this paradigm use dependent measures like reaction time, categorization, recall, and affective evaluations. Hence, it was possible that the null results in Experiment 1 arose because the dependent measure was less theoretically related to the underlying concept of approach-avoidance systems.

These two possibilities were the primary impetus behind changes made for Experiment 2, where the main goal was to create conditions that were more conducive to assessing the potential relationship between approach-avoidance motor signals and optimism judgments. The specific elements of these changes to Experiment 2 are outlined below in Chapter III. However, before moving on to Chapter III, I briefly revisit the data relevant to the secondary goal from Experiment 1.

Approach-Avoidance Traits and Optimism

Results for the secondary goal of Experiment 1 provided evidence that trait measures of approach-avoidance corresponded with likelihood judgments. However, the specific pattern of results across approach-relevant vs. avoidance-relevant traits differentially supported the *compatibility-incompatibility* and *general-outlook accounts*. First, greater reports of PA and BAS were associated with both increased likelihood judgments about experiencing positive events and decreased likelihood judgments about experiencing negative events (see Table F2). This result is most consistent with the *general-outlook account*, which suggests that approach experiences should be associated with general positivity and inflated optimism (see Appendix B). Second, greater reports of NA and BIS tended to be associated with increased likelihood judgments about experiencing negative events, but were generally unrelated to likelihood judgments for positive events (see Table F2). This result is most consistent with the *compatibilityincompatibility account*, which suggests that high avoidance experiences should make people especially concerned about the possibility for negative events but have no impact on sensitivity for positive events (see Appendix B). A discussion of the potential explanations for these divergent patterns will be delayed until Chapter IV.

CHAPTER III

CLARIFYING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN APPROACH-AVOIDANCE MOTOR SIGNALS AND OPTIMISM JUDGMENTS

Overview

Experiment 1 provided limited evidence that approach-avoidance and optimism are connected. The main goal of Experiment 2 was to investigate the impact of approachavoidance motor signals on optimism judgments under a new set of conditions designed to provide a more sensitive test of the initial hypotheses. Overall, Experiment 2 had the same basic structure as Experiment 1. The primary task involved participants making judgments about experiencing various life events while simultaneously engaged in arm flexion or extension, and a secondary goal examined the relationship between approachavoidance traits and optimism judgments. However, there were two notable changes made to the design and procedure for Experiment 2. These major changes and the logic behind these changes are outlined in the next section.

Major Changes in Experiment 2

I previously provided two explanations as to why motor signals may have had a limited impact on likelihood judgments in Experiment 1. The first reason had to do with the extreme valence of the life events chosen for Experiment 1. Critically, participants' strong affective reactions to these events may have overwhelmed any minor effects of motor signals by producing ceiling and floor effects on likelihood judgments (cf. Centerbar & Clore, 2006; Forster, 2004; Lench, 2009). The second reason had to do with the type of dependent measure used to assess optimism in Experiment 1. Given that scaled likelihood judgments tend to involve careful, deliberative, and cognitively effortful processing, this seemed theoretically distant from approach-avoidance systems that are often described as automatic, reflexive, and affect-based. With these reasons in mind, two major changes were implemented to the general method of Experiment 2.

The first major change involved the selection of new events that were presumed to be less extremely positive (e.g., "You will try a new food or dish") and negative (e.g., "You will get a paper cut"). This change served at least two purposes. First, it was assumed that these new events would be much less likely to produce ceiling and floor effects on optimism and desirability judgments. This was important because it would reduce the chance that extreme reactions to event valence would overwhelm or overshadow any subtle effects from motor signals. Second, using these types of events pushed the current research conceptually closer to extant work in the arm flexionextension paradigm (cf. Cacioppo et al., 1993; Centerbar & Clore, 2006; Forster, 2004).

The second major change involved the specific measures used to assess participants' optimism. In particular, some participants judged their optimism using the same scaled likelihood judgments as in Experiment 1, where participants used multiple response options to indicate their degree of uncertainty for experiencing an event (e.g., not at all likely to very likely). Other participants judged their optimism by making outcome predictions, where participants made dichotomous judgments about whether the life event would or would not happen in the future. Compared to scaled likelihood judgments that are more deliberative and effortful in their formulation, non-numeric uncertainty measures (similar to the outcome prediction measures used here) have been described as involving affective or gut/reflexive processing in their formulation (e.g., Kirkpatrick & Epstein, 1992; Lench & Ditto, 2008; Windschitl et al., under review; Windschitl & Wells, 1996). Moreover, the fact that people only have two response options for outcome predictions means that a person's assessment can be much more flexibly pushed one way or the other – perhaps because there is less emphasis on accurately pinpointing one's degree of certainty about an outcome. This flexibility permits a respondent to go with their gut feeling rather than relying on a cold assessment of evidence (Windschitl et al., under review). Each of these properties of outcome predictions are important for the current research because approach-avoidance systems

are often described as having automatic and reflexive influences on processing and judgment. If this is the case, then an optimism measure that potentially involves more affective or gut-level processing – that is, a non-numeric outcome prediction – may be most theoretically and empirically linked to approach-avoidance systems.

Moreover, in line with the second change and consistent with the idea that approach-avoidance systems are associated with reflexive and automatic processing, optimism response times were also measured in Experiment 2. I reasoned that perhaps much of the action in the influence from motor signals arises as a pre-cognitive preparation for evaluating a stimulus or possibility in the environment. Therefore, it might be the case that, whereas the optimism judgments themselves do not change as a function of approach-avoidance motor cues, perhaps the quickness of optimism responses would.

In summary, the central aspects of Experiment 2 were similar to Experiment 1, except for two major changes geared toward increasing the feasibility of illustrating an effect of approach-avoidance motor signals on optimism judgments. First, the life events used in Experiment 2 were newly selected to be less extreme in valence. Second, two types of optimism measures were used and response times for these judgments were measured. Overall, analyses for the primary goal involved a 2 (arm position: flexion or extension) X 2 (judgment type: scaled likelihood or outcome prediction) X 2 (event type: positive or negative) mixed design, with the last factor manipulated within subjects.⁴

⁴ The arm resting conditions were removed from Experiment 2 for sake of efficiency and power. However, this change meant it was now impossible to distinguish between the *compatibility-incompatibility* and *general-outlook accounts*, in terms of the primary analyses involving motor signals. For instance, if arm flexion increased optimism for positive events (relative to arm extension) and extension increased pessimism for negative events (relative to arm flexion), this pattern of results is consistent with both the *compatibility-incompatibility* and *general-outlook accounts*, and it is impossible to distinguish without a control comparison. However, this result pattern could be compared to the *effective action account*. The secondary goal of Experiment 2 involving the correlations between trait measures of approach-avoidance and optimism judgments was still amenable to testing between all 3 hypotheses.

Method

Overview

Participants were first given a cover story involving brain hemisphere activity and cognitive processing and were shown one of the two arm positions. At a critical point in the study, participants flexed or extended their arms while making optimism judgments about experiencing each of 5 positive and 5 negative events – newly selected to be less extremely positive or negative. For half of the participants, the optimism questions were scaled likelihood judgments about their perceived chance of experiencing each event in the near future. The other half of participants made dichotomous outcome predictions about whether they would or would not experience the event in the near future. Following these main judgments, participants answered the same supplemental questions as in Experiment 1 – most notably the trait measures related to approach-avoidance.

Participants and Design

144 students from an Elementary Psychology course at the University of Iowa served as participants in order to satisfy a class requirement. The design was a 2 (arm position: flexion or extension) X 2 (judgment type: scaled likelihood or outcome prediction) X 2 (event valence: positive or negative) mixed design, with the last factor manipulated within subjects.

Procedure and Dependent Measures

Upon arrival to the lab and after completing informed consent documents, participants were provided with the same cover story used in Experiment 1 about the effects of left vs. right brain hemisphere activity on cognitive processing and judgment. Participants were then shown either the flexion or extension arm positions. In the main part of the study, all participants were prompted to assume the relevant arm position and then made optimism judgments about a set of 5 positive and 5 negative life events. As stated previously, these life events were newly selected for Experiment 2 to be moderately positive (e.g., "You will try a new food or dish") and negative (e.g., "You will use a very dirty public restroom"). Neutral events were not used because such events were thought to not be disctinct enough from the slightly positive and negative events that were actually used here. See Appendix E for all events.

First, in terms of the main dependent measure for these life events, participants were randomly assigned to make one of two types of optimism judgments. The first group of participants made scaled likelihood judgments about whether each event was likely to happen to them in the next 2 weeks (1=not at all likely; 7=very likely). The second group of participants made dichotomous outcome predictions about whether the event would (*Yes, the event will happen*) or would not happen (*No, the event will not happen*) in the next 2 weeks. Additionally, the computer recorded how long (in milliseconds) it took for participants to make their optimism judgments for each event.

Second, participants went on to answer the same manipulation check and supplemental measures used in Experiment 1. Participants first rated the perceived desirability of each of the 10 events on 7-point scales (1=*not at all desirable*; 7=*very desirable*). Next, participants completed the first set of supplemental measures, which included the mood (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988) and effort/comfort questions. Next, participants provided self-report ratings across the same trait measures of approach-avoidance used in Experiment 1. Specifically, participants answered questions about their reward and punishment sensitivity using the BAS-BIS measure (α s>.73) and their general experiences of positive and negative affect using the PANAS measure (α s>.89) Appendix D contains the intercorrelations among these measures. Finally, participants provided demographic information, answered an open-ended question about the purpose of the experiment, and were debriefed and dismissed.

Results

Preliminary Analyses

Desirability Judgments

In this section, I examine whether the newly selected positive and negative events were, in fact, perceived as differentially desirable. This analysis was important for confirming the success of the manipulation and to ascertain whether I was generally successful in selecting events that were perceived to be less extremely positive and negative than the events used in Experiment 1. After aggregating desirability judgments (1=not at all desirable; 7=very desirable) for each event valence, these means were submitted for analysis in a *t*-test. This analysis showed that positive events were rated as more desirable (M=5.75, SD=0.67) than negative events (M=1.77, SD=0.88), t (143) = 38.90, p < .01, confirming that the manipulation of event valence was successful. Additionally, a cursory examination of these ratings suggests these events were viewed as less extremely positive and negative than the events used in Experiment 1. In particular, the mean desirability judgment for the positive events was lower in Experiment 2 (M=5.75, SD=0.67) than in Experiment 1 (M=6.50, SD=0.62). Additionally, the mean desirability judgment for negative events was higher in Experiment 2 (M=1.77, SD=0.87) than in Experiment 1 (M=1.25, SD=0.56). Further, the effect size for the difference between desirability judgments for positive vs. negative events was approximately 1.5 times larger in Experiment 1 than in Experiment 2. Although cross-experiment comparisons can be problematic, this provides at least some indication that I was successful in choosing events that were perceived to be less extremely positive and negative than the events used in Experiment 1.

Effects of Arm Position on Mood, Effort, and Comfort

As in Experiment 1, I wanted to ensure that mood and comfort/effort did not differ across the arm positions. First, when submitting overall mood scores (PA total minus NA total) to an ANOVA with arm position as the independent factor, there were no significant differences across the arm flexion and extension positions, F(1, 142) = .03, p > .10. Second, when submitting the effort and comfort ratings to ANOVAs with arm position as the independent factor, there were no significant differences in both these variables across the 2 arm positions (Fs < 2.7, ps > .10). In sum, any significant effects of arm flexion and extension on optimism cannot be easily explained via changes in mood, effort, or comfort.

Primary Analyses

Likelihood Judgments and Outcome Predictions

The main analysis in Experiment 2 involved examining whether optimism judgments – scaled likelihood and outcome predictions – differed as a function of arm position and event valence. Overall, the design was essentially a 2 (judgment type: scaled likelihood or outcome prediction) X 2 (arm position: flexion or extension) X 2 (event valence: positive or negative), with the last factor manipulated within subjects. However, to ease exposition and because a 2 X 2 X 2 ANOVA on optimism judgments with the aforementioned factors detected a significant 3-way interaction (F>7, p<.01), the results will be reported separately for scaled likelihood judgments and dichotomous outcome predictions. To briefly preview the nature of this 3-way interaction before going into the specific results, I note that the arm position X event valence interaction was significant for the dichotomous outcome prediction condition but not for the scaled likelihood condition.

First, I consider the results for participants making scaled likelihood judgments $(1=not \ at \ all \ likely; 7=very \ likely)$. To analyze the data, I first calculated separate means for positive and negative events and then submitted these means to a 2 (arm position: flexion or extension) X 2 (event valence: positive or negative) mixed ANOVA, with a repeated measure on the last factor. Table F3 lists the means and *SD*s for these data and Figure F2 provides a visual display of the means across the event valence and arm position conditions. The overall ANOVA detected a significant main effect of event

valence, F(1, 64) = 76.65, p < .01. As can be seen from the figure, participants reported higher likelihood judgments for the set of positive events (M=4.94, SD=0.74) than the set of negative events (M=3.69, SD=0.94). The main effect of arm position was not significant, F(1, 64) = 1.72, p>.20, suggesting that flexing vs. extending one's arm had no general impact on judgments of an event's likelihood. Also, the arm position X event valence interaction was not significant, F(1, 64) = 1.25, p >.10. These results replicate what was found in Experiment 1.

Second, I consider the results for participants making dichotomous outcome predictions. For analysis purposes, participants' responses were coded as "0" when a participant selected the "No, it will not happen" response and as "1" when a participant selected the "Yes, it will happen" response for a given event. To analyze the data, I again calculated separate means for the positive and negative event types and then submitted these means to a 2 (arm position: flexion or extension) X 2 (event valence: positive or negative) mixed ANOVA, with a repeated measure on the last factor. Table F3 lists the means and SDs for this data and Figure F3 provides a visual display of the means across the event valence and arm position conditions. The overall ANOVA detected a significant main effect of event valence, F(1, 76) = 128.32, p < .01. As can be seen from Figure F3, participants more frequently responded with "Yes, it will happen" for the set of positive events (M=.79, SD=.20) than for the set of negative events (M=.43, SD=.19). The main effect of arm position was not significant, F(1, 76) = .10, p > .20, suggesting that flexing vs. extending one's arm had no general impact on judgments of whether an event would or would not happen. However, the arm position X event valence interaction was significant, F(1, 76) = 6.32, p < .01. As can be seen by Figure F3, the nature of this result was that negative events were judged to be more possible under arm extension (M=.47, SD=.17) than under arm flexion (M=.39, SD=.20), t (76) = 1.99, p < .05. On the other hand, positive events were judged to be more possible under arm

flexion (M=.79, SD=.20) than under arm extension (M=.73, SD=.19), although this was only a directional effect, t (76) = 1.44, p = .15.

Response Times

After removing outliers that exceeded 3 standard deviations above the mean for a given event, I calculated mean response times (in milliseconds) for each event valence type. These means were then submitted to a 2 (arm movement: flexion or extension) X 2 (judgment type: scaled likelihood or outcome prediction) X 2 (event valence: positive or negative) mixed ANOVA, with a repeated measure on the last factor. Table F4 lists the means and *SD*s for these data. Perhaps not surprisingly, there was a significant main effect of judgment type, F(1, 140) = 17.09, p < .01, such that participants were faster to make dichotomous outcome predictions (M=2243, SD=916) than scaled likelihood judgments (M=2752, SD=806). The overall ANOVA also detected a significant main effect of valence, F(1, 140) = 9.25, p < .01, such that participants were faster to make their optimism judgments about positive events (M=2360, SD=804) than negative events (M=2602, SD=1005). No other significant effects emerged (all Fs < 1, ps > .10).

Secondary Analyses

In this section, I report zero-order correlations between each of the trait measures of approach-avoidance (BAS, BIS, PA, NA) and the judgments of optimism for positive and negative events. Separate correlations were computed for participants making scaled likelihood judgments and participants making outcome predictions – where outcome predictions were dummy coded as "0" for responses of "No it will not happen" and "1" for responses of "Yes it will happen". Table F5 displays these zero-order correlations. Surprisingly, unlike the generally healthy correlations found in Experiment 1, the correlations in Experiment 2 were much less robust. See Table F5 for all correlations.

First, as can be seen from the table, both approach-related traits (PA/BAS) and avoidance-related traits (NA/BIS) were generally not associated with optimism judgments about positive events, whether measured via scaled likelihood judgments (*rs* <

|.11|, ps > .10) or via dichotomous outcome predictions (rs < |.19|, ps > .09). Second, the correlations between approach-related and avoidance-related traits and optimism judgments about negative events were also generally paltry (all rs < |.22|, ps > .10, except for the correlation between BIS scores and scaled likelihood judgments about negative events). Thus, the overall conclusion from these analyses was that there was little connection between trait measures of approach-avoidance and optimism judgments in Experiment 2.⁵

Discussion

Summary of the Results

Before presenting a deeper discussion of the findings, a brief summary of the main results of Experiment 2 is presented below:

- Participants provided higher likelihood judgments and outcome predictions about experiencing positive events than about experiencing negative events.
- Approach-avoidance motor movements had a causal influence on optimism judgments. In particular, positive events tended to be judged to as more possible under arm flexion (as compared to arm extension), whereas negative events were judged as more possible under arm extension (as compared to arm flexion). However, this was only true for dichotomous outcome predictions. Motor movements did not have an impact on scaled likelihood judgments, replicating the null results of Experiment 1.
- Response times were faster for optimism judgments about positive events than negative events. However, there was no evidence that engaging in an approach-avoidance motor movement affected optimism response times.

⁵ As in Experiment 1, I also conducted analyses involving the interaction between flexion-extension and the trait measures of approach-avoidance, in terms of the influence on likelihood judgments. Again, these results did not produce any interpretable or systematic patterns of results and will not be discussed further.

• Trait levels of approach-avoidance were generally not correlated with optimism judgments about experiencing positive and negative life events.

Clarifying whether Approach-Avoidance and Optimism are Related Approach-Avoidance Motor Signals and Optimism

The results of Experiment 2 showed that the causal role of arm flexion-extension on optimism judgments depends upon the type of optimism measure and/or characteristics of the events under consideration. First, when considering the results for scaled likelihood judgments, participants provided much higher likelihood judgments about experiencing positive events than about experiencing negative events. Critically, there were no main or interactive effects of arm position on likelihood judgments (see Figure F2). This result was consistent with Experiment 1 and with the logic that scaled likelihood judgments – because they may elicit more deliberative and effortful processing – might be less influenced by reflexive cues from approach-avoidance systems (Kirkpatrick & Epstein, 1992; Windschitl et al., under review; Windschitl & Wells, 1996). Moreover, the use of deliberative or careful processing strategies might not leave room for fleeting or subtle contextual cues to "leak" into one's optimism judgments (Clore & Gasper, 2000; Lerner & Gonzalez, 2005; Schwarz, 1990, 2006; Schwarz & Clore, 1983).

Second, when considering the results for dichotomous outcome predictions, participants also indicated that positive events would occur with greater frequency than would negative events. However, the frequency of these responses critically depended upon whether a participant was simultaneously engaged in arm flexion or extension. For positive events, participants tended to indicate that such events would happen with greater frequency while under arm flexion than arm extension. On the other hand, participants indicated that negative events would happen with greater frequency while under arm extension than arm flexion (see Figure F3). This interactive pattern is quite consistent with the *compatibility-incompatibility account*, which suggests that engaging in an approach-avoidance motor movement that is compatible with the valence of stimuli present in the environment should increase sensitivity to, or thoughts about, experiencing the relevant outcome. The net effect would be that an outcome is easier to imagine, which should lead to inflated predictions that the outcome might occur. On the other hand, engaging in an approach-avoidance motor movement that is incompatible with the valence of stimuli may be associated with more difficulty in processing or a mixed/inconsistent set of evidence to suggest an event will occur. The net effect would be that an outcome is more difficult to imagine, which should ultimately lead to deflated predictions that the outcome might occur (Koehler, 1991; Raune et al., 2005; Schwarz, 1998; Schwarz & Clore, 1996; Schwarz et al., 1991; Sherman et al., 1985; see also Lerner & Gonzalez, 2005).⁶

Moreover, the effects of rudimentary motor movements may have been particularly strong for dichotomous outcome predictions because such measures may – at least relative to scaled likelihood measures and numeric judgments of uncertainty – tend to be more driven by affective, reflexive, and gut-level responding (Windschitl & Wells, 1996; Windschitl et al., under review). This property of dichotomous outcome predictions may encourage flexibility in responding, such as allowing people to freely guess according to their wants, desires, and feelings (Windschitl et al., under review) – precisely the conditions where fleeting or subtle contextual cues (e.g., from motor signals) might "leak" into a judgment.

Approach-Avoidance Motor Signals and Response Times

Approach-avoidance cues often have their most profound influence on automatic or reflexive aspects of cognition, such as attention, categorization, and evaluation. Thus,

⁶ Although this result pattern is consistent with the *compatibility-incompatibility account*, it is notable that the pattern is also consistent with the *general-outlook account*. As will be discussed in more detail in Chapter IV, the omission of a control/relaxed arm condition in Experiment 2 precludes a conclusive distinction between these two accounts.

it was reasoned that arm flexion and extension might not influence the optimism judgments themselves, but that they still might impact the speed at which people formulate their optimism. However, despite the intuitive appeal of this logic, there was no empirical evidence that arm flexion and extension had any impact on optimism response times. In considering why this hypothesized pattern did not emerge, it is notable that most response time experiments in this area of research typically report mean RT data that are less than 1000 milliseconds (cf. Chen & Bargh, 1999; Eder & Rothermund, 2008; Friedman & Forster, 2005; Koch, Holland, Hengstler, & van Knippenberg, 2009; Neumann & Strack, 2000). Due to the nature of the questions in this experiment and the way response times were measured in the computer program, average response times were between 2000 and 3000 milliseconds. Perhaps the typical response time gains or losses reported in studies involving perceptual-motor manipulations of approach-avoidance are only picked up in small windows of time with particular dependent measures – a window that was missed using these particular dependent measures in this paradigm.

Instead, the only significant effects that emerged for these analyses were main effect influences of judgment type and event valence. First, participants were faster to formulate optimism responses when making dichotomous outcome predictions than scaled likelihood judgments. This may be jointly due to the fact that there were fewer response options for dichotomous predictions and that scaled likelihood judgments involve more deliberative and effortful processing. Second, participants were faster to formulate optimism responses when making judgments about positive events than negative events. This result may be due to the fact that people devote more time to thinking about positive than about negative future events, and are therefore quicker to make judgments using information that is more accessible (see related result in Newby-Clark & Ross, 2003). Additionally, perhaps people have tendencies to "freeze up" in the presence of negative stimuli or possibilities (Baumeister, Bratslavsky, Finkenauer, &

44

Vohs, 2001), which would increase response times. These possibilities are admittedly speculative and only future research can establish more definitive evidence to account for such a result.

Approach-Avoidance Traits and Optimism

In this section I consider the failure in Experiment 2 to replicate the apparently stable correlations across the various trait measures of approach-avoidance and optimism judgments. Below I discuss two possibilities that may account for the inconsistency in findings between Experiments 1 and 2.

First, the failure to replicate could be explained via the moderately low sample sizes used to compute the correlations for the relevant dependent measure conditions. Indeed, using *N*s of 74 and 66 may have slightly reduced the power to detect significant correlations. However, it is notable that even when combining the data from both conditions into a large-scale analysis, there were no significant effects (all rs < .13, ps>.10). Regardless, it cannot be ruled out that issues of sample size and power may explain the inconsistent data patterns.

Second, it was possible that something about the new events selected for Experiment 2 reduced the extent to which trait measures of approach-avoidance were related to optimism. For instance, it may be the case that ingrained, chronic approachavoidance tendencies are not implicated when people are exposed to the possibility of mundane, moderately positive (e.g., "You will try a new food or dish") and negative events (e.g., "You will get a paper cut"). If this is the case, then trait measures of approach-avoidance – assessed using the PANAS and BIS-BAS measures – might not be expected to correlate with optimism judgments about these types of events. Instead, perhaps chronic approach-avoidance tendencies are most influential or active when there are consequences or outcomes in the environment that command prolonged attention, processing, and resources – that is, the types of serious and important events used in Experiment 1. Indeed, data collected in an unrelated study at the very end of Experiment 2 replicated the correlations found in Experiment 1. In particular, after completing all of the procedures for Experiment 2, participants went through another study that was separate from the main experiment that involved optimism judgments about life events that were similar to those used in Experiment 1 (e.g., cancer, academic accomplishments). When conducting correlations between the aforementioned trait measures of approach-avoidance (PA/BAS and NA/BIS) and optimism judgments for these new events, the findings more closely paralleled those of Experiment 1.⁷ Thus, it was possible that the divergence in results from Experiment 1 to Experiment 2 was due to the selection of new events.

⁷ More specifically, approach-related traits (PA/BAS) were predictive of likelihood judgments about experiencing positive events (mean r = .25) and negative events (mean r = .24). On the other hand, avoidance-related traits (NA/BIS) were generally predictive of likelihood judgments about experiencing negative events (mean r = .14), but were less predictive of likelihood judgments about positive events (mean r = .04).

CHAPTER IV

CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

Summary of the Main Findings

Two experiments examined the relationship between approach-avoidance and optimism. The primary goal was to examine the causal impact of approach vs. avoidance motor signals on people's optimism judgments for positively and negatively valenced events. A secondary goal was to examine the correspondence between participants' approach-relevant and avoidance-relevant traits (i.e., PA/BAS vs. NA/BIS) and their optimism judgments. The results revealed that the link between approach-avoidance cues and optimism judgments critically depended on how approach-avoidance was operationalized, how optimism was assessed, and the characteristics of events under consideration.

In Experiment 1, participants judged that positive events were more likely than negative events, but there was no main or interactive impact of arm flexion-extension on such judgments (see Figure F1). In secondary analyses, approach- and avoidance-relevant traits did predict likelihood judgments about both positive and negative (but generally not neutral) events (see Table F2). Specifically, PA/BAS scores were positively correlated with likelihood judgments for experiencing positive events, but negatively correlated with likelihood judgments for negative events. This portion of the results was most consistent with the *general-outlook account*. On the other hand, NA/BIS scores tended to be positively correlated with likelihood judgments for positive events (see Table F2). This portion of the results was most consistent with the *compatibility-incompatibility account*.

Experiment 2 followed up on the null findings from the primary analyses in Experiment 1. In particular, several changes were implemented to create conditions that were more conducive to producing an effect of motor signals on optimism judgments. First, a new set of events was selected to be less extremely positive and negative in valence. This brought the current research closer to extant work in the arm flexionextension paradigm (e.g., Cacioppo et al., 1993; Centerbar & Clore, 2006; Forster, 2004) and was intended to reduce the chance for ceiling/floor effects on the likelihood and desirability judgments. Second, optimism was measured in two distinct ways: 1) via scaled likelihood judgments and 2) via dichotomous outcome predictions. When considering the replicated scaled likelihood judgments condition, the results paralleled those from Experiment 1 (see Figure F2). When considering the novel outcome predictions condition, participants judged that positive events would happen more frequently than would negative events. However, this effect depended upon the specific motor signal (see Figure F3). In particular, participants tended to judge that a positive event would happen more frequently under arm flexion than arm extension. On the other hand, participants judged that a negative event would happen more frequently under arm extension than arm flexion. Although this result was consistent with the primary compatibility-incompatibility account, the omission of a control condition in Experiment 2 meant that this result was also consistent with the general-outlook account (a more thorough discussion of this issue appears later in the document). In secondary analyses for Experiment 2, approach- and avoidance- relevant traits (BAS/PA and BIS/NA) were generally not associated with optimism judgments (see Table F5).

Limitations and Future Directions

Despite some supportive findings for the notion that approach-avoidance and optimism are related, there were several inconsistencies in the results of Experiments 1 and 2 that seem noteworthy and may benefit from further investigation. Below I address limitations across two major areas and offer potential future directions that involve experiment-specific and/or theoretical aspects of these issues. Connection between Approach-Avoidance Motor Signals and Optimism

There were differences between Experiments 1 and 2 regarding the causal influence of approach-avoidance motor signals on optimism. There are two notable limitations related to the patterns and interpretations of results across these experiments. First, although Experiment 2 did reveal an impact of motor signals on dichotomous outcome predictions, one consequence of removing the relaxed arm condition was that it was impossible to establish whether the results most fully supported the primary *compatibility-incompatibility account* or the alternative *general-outlook account*.⁸ The first possibility was that approach and avoidance motor cues only affected optimism judgments for events with a compatible valence – whereas optimism judgments about events with an incompatible valence would be expected to be similar to a control condition (assuming a control condition had been included). However, a second possibility for the results pattern was that both approach and avoidance motor cues impacted optimism judgments about both types of events (in opposite directions), which would mean that optimism judgments in a hypothetical control condition would fall somewhere in between. See Appendix A for graphical displays of both of these hypotheses. Follow-up research that includes a control condition for the dichotomous outcome predictions condition (and not just the scaled likelihood judgments condition, as in Experiment 1) would be needed to distinguish between these accounts.

Second, as previously mentioned, Experiment 2 did find that motor signals had an impact on optimism judgments measured as outcome predictions. However, given that Experiment 2 made two changes simultaneously, it is difficult to identify the relative importance of these changes. One possibility was that the use of dichotomous outcome

⁸ It is notable that the *effective action account* could be more clearly ruled out in Experiment 2. In particular, in order for the results to be consistent with this account, outcome predictions for negative events would have needed to be lower – not higher – for the arm extension condition than the arm flexion condition (see Appendix A).

predictions alone was sufficient to account for the results. For instance, perhaps outcome predictions – due to their flexibility in responding and, perhaps, more affect-based processing – are always more susceptible to the effects of fleeting contextual cues, regardless of the type of event under consideration. For the current line of research, this means that optimism judgments about extremely positive and negative events might also be influenced by perceptual-motor signals when outcome predictions are solicited. A second possibility was that the combination of having participants make outcome predictions about moderately positive and negative events was critical to account for the results. This might be the case because the events in Experiment 2 were not only more moderate in terms of valence, but they also seemed lower in terms of personal control and certainty than the events chosen for Experiment 1 (e.g., "You will bump into an old friend on the street" vs. "You will travel to Europe"; see Appendices E and C). Importantly, events with low personal control and certainty may be particularly susceptible to the influence of fleeting contextual feedback or subjective experiences, perhaps because a respondent's lack of concrete evidence circumvents deliberative processing (cf. Lerner & Gonzalez, 2005; Lerner & Keltner, 2001). Moreover, as stated previously, outcome predictions - relative to other types of uncertainty judgments - may also be especially susceptible to the influence of fleeting contextual and subjective cues. Thus, the combination of making outcome predictions about a specific type of event may be critical for showing an influence of motor signals (or other fleeting contextual cues) on optimism judgments.

Of course, these possibilities about the relative importance of changes to Experiment 2 are speculative and future work is needed to develop more definitive conclusions. For instance, one potential follow-up study could involve separate groups of participants engaging in either arm flexion or extension, while simultaneously making dichotomous outcome predictions about the types of events from Experiment 1 (i.e., major life events and/or events with somewhat higher degree of personal control and certainty) or the types of events from Experiment 2 (i.e., minor life events and/or events with somewhat lower degree of personal control and certainty). This experiment would clarify whether the effect is about the forecast type itself or whether it is the unique combination of making certain types of forecasts about certain types of events.

Connection between Trait Measures of Approach-Avoidance and Optimism

There were also inconsistencies involving the secondary goal of examining the relationship between trait levels of approach-avoidance and optimism judgments. When considering only Experiment 1, one inconsistency was that there was divergent evidence to support both the *compatibility-incompatibility* and *general-outlook accounts*. In particular, avoidance-related emotions and motives (NA/BIS) were associated with increased likelihood judgments about experiencing negative outcomes, but were not associated with likelihood judgments for positive events. On the other hand, approach-related emotions and motives (PA/BAS) were associated with both increased likelihood judgments about experiencing negative duties about experiencing negative events and decreased likelihood judgments about experiencing negative events (see Table F2).

One potential set of explanations for these divergent results might involve the particular trait measures used to assess underlying approach vs. avoidance tendencies. Importantly, although the PA/BAS and NA/BIS measures have heretofore been differentially linked to approach vs. avoidance, it was possible that some of the measures were more construct valid than others – in terms of clearly and divergently assessing the underlying dimensions of approach vs. avoidance. In partial support of this notion, Appendix D shows there were substantial correlations between the PA/BAS and the NA/BIS measures – subscales thought to orthogonally represent approach vs. avoidance, respectively. This is potentially problematic for interpreting the correlations between these trait measures and people's optimism judgments about positive and negative events. For instance, if a particular subscale involves both approach and avoidance components, then we might predict one pattern of results – most logically following the *general*-

outlook account. On the other hand, if a particular subscale is more clearly identified as having strong approach or avoidance components (but not both), then a completely different pattern of results might be expected – most logically following the *compatibility-incompatibility account*. Future work that more clearly tests the adequacy of various trait measures to assess the underlying constructs of approach vs. avoidance would be useful for interpreting the mixed results in the current research and the extant literature (cf. Elliot & Thrash, 2002; Kambouropoulos & Staiger, 2004; Robinson et al., 2008; Watson et al., 1999).

A second set of explanations for this inconsistency in results in Experiment 1 involves the use of positive and negative events that might differ in their theoretical connection to approach vs. avoidance. For instance, the successful acquisition or withdrawal from particular desired and undesired outcomes may variably require 1) only the approach system, 2) only the avoidance system, or 3) a mixture of both (cf. Kambouropoulos & Staiger, 2004; Robinson et al., 2008). For instance, although some potential future outcomes (e.g., escaping a shock) may be most clearly associated with approach or avoidance, other potential outcomes (e.g., starting a romantic relationship) may be associated with both the opportunity for reward (e.g., sexual activity) and the threat of loss (e.g., heartbreak). Moreover, to the extent that the events selected in the current experiments differed in terms of their theoretical ties to these two systems, this would meaningfully impact the correlational patterns. For example, when an event involved elements of pain and pleasure, then perhaps both approach and avoidance systems/traits should have an impact on cognitive and emotional processing – including on judgments of optimism. Future research is needed to more clearly identify the specific properties of events that might be differentially connected to the underlying dimensions of approach and/or avoidance, and hence also to optimism judgments about such events.

A second inconsistency involving the secondary analyses was the divergent correlational patterns across Experiments 1 and 2. In particular, whereas Experiment 1

52

produced relatively healthy correlations (see Table F2), Experiment 2 revealed virtually no significant correlations (see Table F5). As stated previously, a couple possibilities may account for this inconsistency. First, the analyses in Experiment 2 (relative to Experiment 1) may have been underpowered due to conducting separate correlations for participants in the likelihood judgments and outcome predictions conditions. Second, the different types of life events used across Experiments 1 and 2 might have played a critical role in shaping the result patterns. In particular, the correlations were stronger when participants were asked about extremely positive and negative life events (in Experiment 1) than when they were asked about moderately positive and negative events (in Experiment 2). Future research might be useful for investigating the veracity of each of these possibilities.

First, whenever a researcher finds a null result, he/she must consider whether the analyses were underpowered and whether increases in sample size might be necessary. Thus, increasing the sample sizes in each condition of Experiment 2 would certainly help to evaluate the possibility that the analyses were underpowered. However, it is notable that data were collected on over 140 participants in Experiment 2, so the analyses were probably, at worst, only slightly underpowered.

Second, other work could examine why approach-avoidance systems might be differentially linked to psychological reactions for extremely positive/negative vs. moderately positive/negative life outcomes. For instance, it might be the case that chronic approach-avoidance emotions are at their most influential when an organism is faced with consequences or outcomes that are critical for long-term success or stability. On the other hand, perhaps responses to moderately consequential positive vs. negative possibilities are influenced by other, more temporary or fleeting factors. In support of this general idea, there is a wealth of research that has examined how qualitatively divergent events (e.g., serious/major events vs. everyday/minor hassles or uplifts) differentially influence a range of outcomes and processing, such as well-being, coping strategies, and physical health (e.g., DeLongis, 1982; Kanner, Coyne, Schaefer, & Lazarus, 1981; see also Dohrenwend, Askensy, Krasnoff, & Dohrenwend, 1978; Holmes & Rahe, 1967). Future research might examine the connection between these different types of events and approach-avoidance, which would lead to the development of assumptions about how downstream judgment and decision making might be impacted differently depending on the type of event and activation of divergent motivational systems.

Broader Implications

This research has implications for our understanding of the theoretical connection between approach-avoidance and optimism, and has some practical implications for how we think about optimism/pessimism and approach-avoidance in everyday contexts. The next 2 sections consider the broad theoretical and practical implications of this research.

Theoretical Implications

From the current research, there are some conclusions we can draw about the theoretical connection between approach-avoidance and optimism, in terms of how approach-avoidance cues might be expected to shape optimism judgments. Scores of researchers have attempted to develop theoretical frameworks for understanding the various sources of influence in shaping people's optimism/pessimism about the future (cf. Armor & Taylor, 1998; Chambers & Windschitl, 2004; Helweg-Larsen & Shepperd, 2001; Klein & Zajac, 2009; Krizan & Windschitl, 2007; Weinstein, 1980, 1987). A principle goal of many approaches is to understand why people are frequently overoptimistic. Some perspectives focus on the role motives and desires (cf. Krizan & Windschitl, 2007; Kunda, 1990; Regan et al., 1995; Taylor & Brown; 1988), others focus on the role of cognitive heuristics and basic information processing (e.g., Chambers & Windschitl, 2004; Klein & Zajac, in press), and still others highlight the role of personality or individual differences (e.g., Harris, et al., 2008; see also Helweg-Larsen & Shepperd, 2001). Although complex, the results of the current research also highlight the

necessity to understand optimism in the broader context of fleeting and chronic subjective experiences (e.g., from moods/affect, active goals, ease of processing, and even bodily signals) (see Clore & Gasper, 2000; Lerner & Gonzalez, 2005; Schwarz, 1990, 2006; Schwarz & Clore, 1996), and offer some boundary conditions about when and how cues or experiences related to approach-avoidance will impact optimism.

First, it is clear that the influence of approach-avoidance cues on optimism in the current experiments was somewhat limited in scope and magnitude. However, when broadly characterizing the nature of the results that *were* significant, it can be stated that the approach system was associated with increased optimism whereas the avoidance system was associated with decreased optimism. Said differently, when approach-relevant actions and traits did predict optimism judgments in the current experiments, the results tended to reflect optimistic expectations – such as BAS/PA being associated with increased likelihood judgments for positive events and decreased likelihood judgments for negative events (see Table F2). On the other hand, when avoidance-relevant actions and traits did predict optimism in the current experiments, the reflect more pessimistic expectations – such as arm extension producing greater expectations for negative events, relative to arm flexion (see Figure F3). This general characterization for the connection between approach-avoidance systems and optimism is most theoretically consistent with the *compatibility-incompatibility* and *general-outlook accounts*, and less theoretically consistent with the *effective action account*.

Second, however, the results were much more complex than this broad characterization and critically depended upon the specific operationalization of approachavoidance, the type of optimism judgment, and characteristics of the events under consideration. One aspect of these complex results was that different measures of optimism were differentially sensitive to the influence of approach-avoidance cues, depending upon whether such cues were triggered reflexively or were measured as chronic traits. Notably, approach-avoidance that is activated temporarily via flexion-
extension seems much more compatible with the traditional conceptualizations of approach-avoidance that involve reflexivity and automaticity. On the other hand, chronic approach-avoidance tendencies may involve both reflexive elements and elements by which people are consciously aware and can report on. Critically, these two operationalizations appeared to interact with the manner in which optimism judgments were formulated. In particular, scaled likelihood judgments tended to be more highly related to chronically present approach-avoidance systems – measured via the PANAS and BIS-BAS scales. This suggests that people's chronic approach-avoidance tendencies might be more theoretically tied to effortful, deliberative, and cognitive judgments. On the other hand, outcome predictions tended to be somewhat more related to reflexive approach-avoidance cues – manipulated via rudimentary arm flexion-extension. In this case, temporarily activated approach-avoidance cues might be more theoretically tied to more reflexive or affective judgments.

Third, the theoretical tie of approach-avoidance to optimism judgments may also critically depend upon characteristics about which a person is making a forecast. In particular, it is possible that approach vs. avoidance systems might have very different functions for shaping how people think about, and react to, events that are extremely vs. moderately positive or negative. Furthermore, the influence of these systems may depend upon the specific operationalization of approach-avoidance. For instance, data from the current research is suggestive of the possibility that more temporary approach-avoidance feedback might be more relevant for processing and judgment about minor, short term, or moderately positive/negative events. On the other hand, chronic approach-avoidance might be more relevant to processing and judgment about major, long-term, or extremely positive/negative events.

Practical Implications

There are also some practical implications that can be derived from the current research. First, this work can be viewed in the broader context of research investigating

issues related to future-directed thinking. In everyday life, people constantly think about and evaluate their futures. Sometimes the outcomes under consideration are mundane, such as predicting whether one's favorite sports team will be victorious. Other outcomes are more serious, such as estimating one's chance of cancer. What's more is that judgments about future outcomes have been viewed as an important part of healthy psychological functioning (cf. Taylor & Brown, 1988) and play a significant role in guiding decisions and behaviors (Armor & Taylor, 1998; Fishburn, 1988; Janz & Becker, 1984; Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Mellers & McGraw, 2001; Weinstein, 1988). Thus, because of the importance of optimism in everyday contexts (e.g., health, academics, and the workplace), researchers and professionals should be quite interested in knowing when and why people make over-pessimistic, over-optimistic, or accurate predictions (see Dunning, Health, & Suls, 2004). The current work provides some (albeit complex) empirical evidence and theoretical arguments that highlight the import of gaining a deeper understanding of how temporary and chronic cues from subjective experiences can influence judgments of optimism. Moreover, an improved understanding of these issues should aid in developing theoretical models that can be used to understand various aspects of judgment and decision making and to create interventions designed to aid such judgments and decisions.

Second, the current work also highlights the utility of using the theoretical relationship between the concepts of approach-avoidance and optimism to understand real-world relevant aspects of maladaptive psychological functioning (e.g., anxiety, depression, and high risk-seeking). For instance, recall that I had previously discussed depression and anxiety as being fruitfully conceptualized as involving differential aspects of approach-avoidance and pessimism about the future. Indeed, it is clear from an analysis of the literature that the underlying concepts of approach-avoidance and optimism/pessimism might be useful in defining, describing, diagnosing, and treating depression and anxiety (see e.g., Abramson et al., 1989; Ahrens & Haaga, 1993;

Andersen et al., 1992; Clark and Watson, 1991; Clark et al., 1994; MacLeod & Byrne, 1996; MacLeod et al., 1996; MacLeod et al., 1997; Miranda & Mennin, 2007). For example, diagnostic characteristics of an individual with anxiety involve their sensitivity to threat and an unrealistic focus on negative future outcomes, and treatment may involve changing either or both of these characteristics in the individual. Another real-world relevant example in which the concepts of approach-avoidance and optimism might be relevant is in the case of excessive risk taking behaviors (e.g., drug abuse, dangerous driving). Indeed, some work suggests that individual differences related to approach and avoidance may importantly predict patterns of risk-taking and risky decision making (Lauriola & Levin, 2001; Lauriola et al., 2005). Additionally, judgments of future outcomes have also been linked to risk-seeking behaviors (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; see also Peters & Slovic, 2000). In short, researchers and practitioners might benefit by gaining a deeper understanding of how the concepts of approach-avoidance and optimism interface in the context of anxiety, depression and excessive risk-taking.

Conclusions

That we approach pleasure and avoid pain is one of the most fundamental principles guiding the behaviors of most living organisms. In humans, however, we can draw a distinction between the rather reflexive tendencies to approach and avoid (e.g., motor movements that propel an organism toward rewards and away from threat) and cognitive tendencies to approach and avoid (e.g., judging desirable outcomes as likely and undesirable outcomes as unlikely). Drawing on the connection between these two notions, the purpose of the current research was to examine how the activation of rudimentary approach-avoidance systems would impact higher-order optimism judgments about experiencing positive and negative future outcomes. The results revealed complexities based on how approach-avoidance were operationalized, how optimism was assessed, and the characteristics of outcomes under consideration. In returning to the opening quote, Anatole France noted that it might be unwise to focus our hopes and fears on a future that we can never fully predict or understand. However, the current research and other extant research suggests that chronic and fleeting subjective experiences that occur in the present can sometimes have an influence on the judgments we make about the future – perhaps illustrating a functionality in relying on what we are experiencing in the present to aid us in reaching or avoiding potential rewards or threats that lay on the horizon.



APPENDIX A. HYPOTHESES FOR THE PRIMARY GOAL OF EXPERIMENT 1

Note: This figure displays a graphical representation of the three accounts for the influence of motor movements (flexion, extension, or resting) on likelihood judgments for positive, negative, and neutral events. Higher bars mean greater likelihood judgments.



APPENDIX B. HYPOTHESES FOR THE SECONDARY GOAL OF EXPERIMENT 1

Note: These are the hypotheses for the secondary analysis involving the correlations between trait measures of approach (BAS/PA) and avoidance (BIS/NA) and likelihood judgments for positive, negative, and neutral events. Bars that appear to be no different from the middle line in the graph indicate a correlation of 0. Bars higher than this middle line indicate a large and positive correlation, whereas bars lower than this middle line indicate a large and negative correlation.

APPENDIX C. FUTURE LIFE EVENTS USED IN EXPERIMENT 1

Positive Events

You will get a desirable postgraduate job You will have a long and happy marriage Your will travel to Europe You will graduate in the top 25% of your class You will live past the age of 80 You will have your work recognized with an award

Negative Events

You will be injured in a car crash You will not find a job for 6 months You will develop cancer You will have a heart attack before the age of 50 You will have your home burglarized You will get fired from a job

Neutral Events

You will have a fish aquarium in your home You will take up landscaping/gardening You will own a white car You will live in a town with fewer than 50,000 people You will go on a trip to Texas You will have more than two children

APPENDIX D. INTERCORRELATIONS AMONG TRAIT MEASURES OF APPROACH-AVOIDANCE

Experiment 1 (*N*=125)

Measure	PA	NA	BAS	BIS
PA	-	20*	.42**	18*
NA		-	15	.40**
BAS			-	.20*
BIS				-
(** <i>p</i> < .01; * <i>p</i> < .	05)			

Experiment 2 (N=144)

Measure	PA	NA	BAS	BIS
PA	-	09	.39**	12
NA		-	36**	.29**
BAS			-	.14
BIS				-
(** <i>p</i> < .01; * <i>p</i> <	.05)			

Note: "BAS" and "BIS" are measures of reward and punishment sensitivity, assessed using the Behavioral Activation System (BAS) and Behavioral Inhibition System (BIS) (Carver & White, 1994). "PA" and "NA" are measures of positive affectivity and negative affectivity, measured using the Positive and Negative Affectivity Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988).

APPENDIX E. FUTURE LIFE EVENTS USED IN EXPERIMENT 2

Positive Events

You will sleep peacefully for a night You will bump into an old friend on the street

You will read a newspaper column that makes you laugh

You will try a new food or dish

You will be invited to a party

Negative Events

You will accidentally eat/drink something that is expired You will use a very dirty public restroom

You will get a paper cut

You will lose an important computer file

Your neighbor will play his/her music too loud

Arm Position	Positive	Positive Events		Events	Neutral Events	
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Flexion	5.08	0.62	3.10	0.79	3.79	0.77
Extension	5.01	0.74	2.88	0.87	3.83	0.81
Resting	5.12	0.80	3.12	0.85	3.93	1.08

Table F1. Likelihood judgments as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 1.

APPENDIX F. TABLES AND FIGURES

Note: Likelihood judgments were made on 7-point scales (1=*not at all likely*; 7=*very likely*). The values in the table represent means for the 6 positive events, the 6 negative events, and the 6 neutral events across each arm position condition (flexion, extension, or resting).

Trait Measure of			
Approach-Avoidance	Positive Events	Negative Events	Neutral Events
Approach-related			
BAS	.21*	18	.05
PA	.37**	34*	.07
Avoidance-related			
BIS	09	.15	.11
NA	11	.20*	.26**

Table F2. Zero-order correlations between trait measures of approach-avoidance and likelihood judgments in Experiment 1.

(** *p* < .01; * *p* < .05)

Note: "BAS" and "BIS" are measures of reward and punishment sensitivity, assessed using the Behavioral Activation System (BAS) and Behavioral Inhibition System (BIS) (Carver & White, 1994). "PA" and "NA" are measures of positive affectivity and negative affectivity, measured using the Positive and Negative Affectivity Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). Likelihood judgments were made on 7-point scales (1=not at all likely; 7=very likely).

	Scaled Likelihood Judgments				Outcome Predictions			
Arm	Positive Events		Negative Events		Positive Events		Negative Events	
Position	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Flexion	4.96	0.79	3.86	0.81	0.79	0.20	0.39	0.20
Extension	4.93	0.70	3.50	1.05	0.73	0.19	0.47	0.17

Table F3. Scaled likelihood judgments and outcome predictions as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 2.

Note. The values in Table F3 are averages of the relevant optimism measures (scaled likelihood or outcome prediction) for each of the 5 positive and 5 negative events, and as a function of whether participants engaged in arm flexion or extension. Scaled likelihood judgments were made on 7-point scales (1=not at all likely; 7=very likely). Outcome predictions were made by selecting between one of two options for each event (1= Yes, it will happen; 0= No, it will not happen).

	Scaled Likelihood Judgments				Outcome Predictions			
Arm	Positive	Events	Negative	e Events	Positive	Events	Negative	e Events
Position	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Flexion	2698	730	2889	1085	2072	839	2243	859
Extension	2642	735	2810	601	2122	711	2547	1223

Table F4. Optimism judgment response times as a function of event valence, arm position, and judgment type in Experiment 2.

Note: The values in the table are averages of the time it took (in milliseconds) for participants to respond to the optimism questions, as function of event valence (positive or negative), judgment type (scaled likelihood or outcome prediction), and arm position (flexion or extension). Overall, there were only main effects of judgment type and event valence (Fs > 9, ps < .01). No other effects emerged (all Fs < 1, ps > .1).

Trait Measures of Approach-	Scaled Likelih	ood Judgments	Outcome Predictions		
Avoidance	Positive events	Negative events	Positive events	Negative events	
Approach-related					
BAS	04	.08	.07	06	
PA	.05	22	.19	.06	
Avoidance-related					
BIS	03	.24*	.06	.04	
NA	.11	.16	07	.04	

Table F5. Zero-order correlations between trait measures of approach-avoidance and optimism judgments in Experiment 2.

(** *p* < .01; * *p* < .05)

Note: "BAS" and "BIS" are measures of reward and punishment sensitivity, assessed using the Behavioral Activation System (BAS) and Behavioral Inhibition System (BIS) (Carver & White, 1994). "PA" and "NA" are measures of positive affectivity and negative affectivity, measured using the Positive and Negative Affectivity Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). Participants (*N*=66) made scaled likelihood judgments about experiencing the various events on 7-point scales (1=not at all likely; 7=very likely). Participants (*N*=78) made outcome predictions by selecting between a response option indicating the event would happen (dummy coded as "1") and an option indicating the event would not happen (dummy coded as "0").



Figure F1. Likelihood judgments as a function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 1.

Note: Participants made likelihood judgments for each of the 18 events on 7-point scales $(1=not \ at \ all \ likely; 7=very \ likely)$. The values in the figure represent means for the 6 positive events, the 6 negative events, and the 6 neutral events across each arm position condition (flexion, extension, or resting). There was only a main effect for event type (F>200, p<.01). There were no main or interactive effects involving the manipulation of arm position (Fs<1, ps>.10).





Note: Participants (N=66) made likelihood judgments about each of the 10 events on a 7-point scale (1=*not at all likely*; 7=*very likely*). Values represent means across each arm position condition (flexion or extension) for the 5 positive events and 5 negative events. There was only a main effect for event valence (F>70. p<.01). There were no main or interactive effects involving the manipulation of arm position (Fs<2, ps>.10).



Figure F3. Outcome predictions as function of event valence and arm position in Experiment 2.

Note: Participants (N=78) made outcome predictions for each of the 10 events (5 positive, 5 negative) by selecting between one of two options (1=Yes, *it will happen*; 0=No, *it will not happen*). These responses were aggregated to form mean responses for both positive and negative event types. These means are presented in this figure, where values approaching 1 indicate more "Yes" responses to the various outcome prediction questions, whereas values approaching "0" indicate more "No" responses to the outcome prediction questions. Overall there was a significant main effect of event valence (F>100, p<.01) and a significant event valence X arm position interaction (F>6, p<.01).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abramson, L. Y., Metalsky, G. I., & Alloy, L. B. (1989). Hopelessness depression: A theory-based subtype of depression. *Psychological Review*, *96*, 358-372.
- Ahrens, A. H., & Haaga, D. A. F. (1993). The specificity of attributional style anxious children: Extensions from cognitive theory and research on adult anxiety. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 8, 79-96.
- Andersen, S. M., Spielman, L. A., & Bargh, J. A. (1992). Future-event schemas and certainty about the future: Automaticity in depressives' future-event predictions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63, 711-723.
- Armor, D. A., & Sackett, A. M. (2006). Accuracy, error, and bias in predictions for real versus hypothetical events. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 91, 583-600.
- Armor, D. A., & Taylor, S. (1998). Situated optimism: Specific outcome expectations and self-regulation. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), Advances in Experimental Social Psychology (Vol. 21, pp. 261-302). New York: Academic Press.
- Bar-Hillel, M., Budescu, D. V., & Amar, M. (2008). Wishful thinking in predicting World Cup Results: Still elusive. In J. I. Krueger (ed.), *Rationality and social responsibility: Essays in honor of Robyn Mason Dawes*. New York: Psychology Press.
- Baumeister, R. F., Bratslavsky, E., Finkenauer, C., & Vohs, K. D. (2001). Bad is stronger than good. *Review of General Psychology*, 5, 323-370.
- Buehler, R., Griffin, D., & MacDonald, H. (1997). The role of motivated reasoning in optimistic time predictions. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 23, 238-247.
- Buehler, R., Griffin, D., & Ross, M. (1995). It's about time: Optimistic predictions in work and love. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 6, 1-32.
- Buehler, R., Griffin, D., & Ross, M. (2002). Inside the planning fallacy: The causes and consequences of optimistic time predictions. In T. Gilovich & D. Griffin (Eds.), *Heuristic and biases: The psychology of intuitive judgment*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1981). Attention and self-regulation: A control-theory approach to human behavior. New York: Springer Verlag.
- Carver, C. S., & White, T. L. (1994). Behavioral inhibition, behavioral activation, and affective response to impending reward and punishment: The BIS/BAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 319-333.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Priester, J. R., & Bernston, G. G. (1993). Rudimentary determinants of attitudes: II. Arm flexion and extension have differential effects on attitudes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65, 5-17.

- Centerbar, D. B., & Clore, G. L. (2006). Do approach-avoidance actions create attitudes? *Psychological Science*, *17*, 22-29.
- Centerbar, D. B., Schnall, S., Clore, G. L., & Garvin, E. D. (2008). Affective incoherence: When affective concepts and embodied reactions clash. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *94*, 560-578.
- Chambers, J. R., & Windschitl, P. D. (2004). Biases in social comparative judgments: The role of nonmotivated factors in above-average and comparative-optimism effects. *Psychological Bulletin, 130*, 813-838.
- Chen, M., & Bargh, J. A. (1999). Consequences of automatic evaluation: Immediate behavioral predispositions to approach or avoid the stimulus. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 25*, 215-224.
- Clark, L. A., & Watson, D. (1991). Tripartite model of anxiety and depression: Psychometric evidence and taxonomic implications. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 100, 316-336.
- Clark, L. A., Watson, D., & Mineka, S. (1994). Temperament, personality, and the mood and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *103*, 103-116.
- Clore, G. L., & Gasper, K. (2000). Feeling is believing: Some affective influences on belief. In N. H. Frida & A. Manstead (Eds.), *Emotions and belief: How feelings influence thoughts. Studies in emotion and social interaction* (pp. 10-44). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Coats, E. J., Janoff-Bulman, R., & Alpert, N. (1996). Approach versus avoidance goals: Differences in self-evaluation and well-being. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 22, 1057-1067.
- Cunningham, W. A., Raye, C. L., & Johnson, M. K. (2005). Neural correlates of evaluation associated with promotion and prevention regulatory focus. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 5*, 202-211.
- DeLongis, A. (1982). Relationship of daily hassles, uplifts, and major life events to health status. *Health Psychology*, *1*, 119-136.
- Dember, W. N., Martin, S., Hummer, M. K., Howe, S., & Melton, R. (1989). The measurement of optimism and pessimism. *Current Psychology: Research and Reviews*, 8, 102-119.
- DeSteno, D. Petty, R. E., Wegener, D. T., & Rucker, D. D. (2000). Beyond valence in the perception of likelihood: The role of emotion specificity. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 78, 397-416.
- Dohrenwend, B. S., Askensy, A., R., Krasnoff, L., & Dohrenwend, B. P. (1978). Exemplification of a method for scaling life events: The PERI Life Events Scale. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 19*, 205-229.
- Dunning, D., Health, C., & Suls, J. (2004). Flawed self-assessment: Implications for health, education, and the workplace. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 5, 69-106.

- Eder, A. B., & Rothermund, K. (2008). When do motor behaviors (mis)match affective stimuli? An evaluative response coding view of approach and avoidance reactions. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 137*, 262-281.
- Elliot, A. J., & Covington, M. V. (2001). Approach and avoidance motivation. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13, 73-92.
- Elliot, A. J., & Thrash, T. M. (2002). Approach-avoidance motivation in personality: Approach and avoidance temperaments and goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82, 804-818.
- Fishburn, P. C. (1988). *Nonlinear preference and utility theory*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Forster, J. (2003). The influence of approach and avoidance motor actions on food intake. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 75, 1115-1131.
- Forster, J. (2004). How body feedback influences consumers' evaluations of products. Journal of Consumer Psychology, 14, 416-426.
- Forster, J., & Friedman, R. S. (2008). Expression entails anticipation: Toward a selfregulatory model of bodily feedback effects. In Semin, G. R., & Smith, E. R. (Eds.), *Embodied grounding: Social, cognitive, affective, and neuroscientific approaches*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Forster, J., Grant, H., Idson, L. C., & Higgins, E. T. (2001). Success/failure feedback, expectancies, and approach/avoidance motivation: How regulatory focus moderates classic relations. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 37, 253-260.
- Forster, J., & Strack, F. (1997). Motor actions interval of valenced information: A motor congruence effect. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 85, 1419-1427.
- Forster, J., & Stepper, S. (2000). Compatibility between approach/avoidance stimulation of valenced information determines residual attention during the process of encoding. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *30*, 853-871.
- Fowles, D. C. (1987). Application of a behavioral theory of motivation to the concepts of anxiety and impulsivity. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *21*, 417-435.
- Freud, S. (1952/1920). A general introduction to psychoanalysis. New York: Washington Square Press.
- Friedman, R. S., Forster, J. (2000). The effects of approach and avoidance motor actions on creative insight. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79, 477-492.
- Friedman, R. S., & Forster, J. (2002). The influence of approach and avoidance motor actions on creative cognition. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 38, 41-55.
- Friedman, R. S., Forster, J. (2005). The influence of approach and avoidance cues on attentional flexibility. *Motivation and Emotion*, 29, 69-81.

- Gable, S. L., Reis, H. T., & Elliot, A. J. (2000). Behavioral activation and inhibition in everyday life. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 1135-1149.
- Gawronski, B., Deutsch, R., & Strack, F. (2005). Approach/avoidance-related motor actions and the processing of affective stimuli: Incongruency effects in automatic attention allocation. *Social Cognition*, 23, 182-203.
- Gilbert, D. T. & Wilson, T. D. (2008). Prospection: Experiencing the future. *Science* 317, 1351–1354.
- Gol, A. R., & Cook, S. W. (2004). Exploring the underlying dimensions of coping: A concept mapping approach. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 23, 155-171.
- Gray, J. A. (1987). *The psychology of fear and stress* (2nd ed.). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Gray, J. A. (1990). Brain systems that mediate both emotion and cognition. *Cognition and Emotion*, *4*, 269-288.
- Gray, J. A. (1994). Three fundamental emotion systems. In P. Ekman & R. J. Davidson (Eds.), *The nature of emotion* (pp. 243-247). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gutierrez, F., Peri, J. M., Torres, X., Caseras, X., & Valdes, M. (2007). Three dimensions of coping and a look at their evolutionary origin. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *41*, 1032-1053.
- Harris, P. R., Griffin, D. W., & Murray, S. (2008). Testing the limits of optimistic bias: Event and person moderators in a multilevel framework. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 5, 1225-1237.
- Helweg-Larsen, M., Sadeghian, P., & Webb, M. S. (2002). The stigma of being pessimistically biased. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 21, 92-107.
- Helweg-Larsen, M. & Shepperd, J. A. (2001). Do moderators of the optimistic bias affect personal or target risk estimates? A review of the literature. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *51*, 74-95.
- Higgins, E. T. (1997). Beyond pleasure and pain. *American Psychologist*, 52, 1280-1300.
- Holmes, T. H., & Rahe, R. H. (1967). The social readjustment rating scale. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *4*, 189-194.
- Irwin, F. W. (1953). Stated expectations as a function of probability and desirability of outcomes. *Journal of Personality*, *21*, 329-335.
- James, W. (1950). *The principles of Psychology* (Vol. 2). New York: Dover Publications. (Original work published 1890).
- Janz, Z. K., & Becker, M. H. (1984). The health belief model: A decade later. *Health Education Quarterly*, 11, 1-47.

- Johnson, E. J., & Tversky, A. (1983). Affect, generalization, and the perception of risk. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 45, 20-31.
- Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect theory: An analysis of decision under risk. *Econometrica*, 47, 263-291.
- Kambouropoulos, N., & Staiger, P. K. (2004). Personality and responses to appetitive and aversive stimuli: The joint influence of behavioural approach and behavioural inhibition systems. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *37*, 1153-1165.
- Kanner, A. D., Coyne, J. C., Schaeffer, C., & Lazarus, R. S. (1981). Comparison of two modes of stress measurement: Daily hassles and uplifts versus major life events. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 4, 1-39.
- Kirkpatrick, L. A., & Epstein, S. (1992). Cognitive-experiential self-theory and subjective probability: Further evidence for two conceptual systems. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63, 534-544.
- Klein, W. M. P., & Zajac, L. E. (2009). Imagining a rosy future: The psychology of optimism. In K. Markman, W. M. P. Klein, & J. Sur (Eds.), *Handbook of imagination and mental simulation*. New York, MY: Psychology Press.
- Koch, S., Holland, R. W., Hengstler, M., & van Knippenberg, A. (2009). Body locomotion as regulatory process. *Psychological Science*, 20, 549-550.
- Koehler, D. J. (1991). Explanation, imagination, and confidence in judgment. *Psychological Bulletin*, *110*, 499-519.
- Krizan, Z., & Windschitl, P. D. (2007). The influence of outcome desirability on optimism. *Psychological Bulletin, 133*, 95-121.
- Kunda, Z. (1990). The case for motivated reasoning. *Psychological Bulletin*, 108, 480-498.
- Lauriola, M., & Levin, I. P. (2001). Personality traits and risky decision-making in a controlled experimental task: An exploratory study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 31, 215-226.
- Lauriola, M., Russo, P. M., Lucidi, F., Violani, C., & Levin, I. P. (2005). The role of personality in positively and negatively framed risky health decisions. *Personality and Individual Differences, 38*, 45-59.

Lazarus, R. S. (1991). *Emotion and adaptation*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Lench, H. C. (2009). Automatic optimism: The affective basis of judgments about the likelihood of future events. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 138, 187-200.
- Lench, H. C., & Ditto, P. H. (2008). Automatic optimism: Biased use of base rate information for positive and negative events. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 44, 631-639.
- Lerner, J. S., & Gonzalez, R. M. (2005). Forecasting one's future based on fleeting subjective experiences. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 31*, 454-466.

- Lerner, J. S., & Keltner, D. (2000). Beyond valence: Toward a model of emotion-specific influences on judgment and choice. *Cognition and Emotion*, 14, 473-493.
- Lerner, J. S., & Keltner, D. (2001). Fear, anger, and risk. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 81, 146-159.
- Newby-Clark, I. R., & Ross, M. Conceiving the past and future. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 29*, 807-818.
- MacLeod, A. K. & Byrne, A. (1996). Anxiety, depression, and the anticipation of future positive and negative experiences. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 105, 286-289.
- MacLeod, A. K., Byrne, A., & Valentine, J. D. (1996). Affect, emotional disorder and future-directed thinking. *Cognition and Emotion*, 10, 69-86.
- MacLeod, A. K., Tata, P., Kentish, J., & Jacobsen, H. (1997). Retrospective and prospective cognitions in anxiety and depression. *Cognition & Emotion*, 11, 467-479.
- Maner, J. K., & Gerend, M. A. (2007). Motivationally selective risk judgments: Do fear and curiosity boost the boons or the banes? *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 103, 256-267.
- Mellers, B. A., & McGraw, A. P. (2001). Anticipated emotions as guides to choice. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10, 210-214.
- Miranda, R., & Mennin, D. S. (2007). Depression, generalized anxiety disorder, and certainty in pessimistic predictions about the future. *Cognitive Therapy Research*, *31*, 71-82.
- Neumann, R., Forster, J., & Strack, F. (2003). Motor compatibility: The bi-directional link between behavior and evaluation. In J. Musch & K. C. Klauer (Eds.), *The psychology of evaluation: Affective processes in cognition and emotion* (pp. 371-391). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Neumann, R., & Strack, F. (2000). Approach and avoidance: The influence of proprioceptive and exteroceptive cues on encoding of affective information. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79, 39-48.
- Ohman, A., & Mineka, S. (2001). Fears, phobias, and preparedness: Toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning. *Psychological Review*, 108, 483-522.
- Olson, J. M., Roese, N. J., & Zanna, M. P. (1996). Expectancies. In E. T. Higgins & A. W. Kruglanski (Eds.), *Social psychology: Handbook of basic principles* (pp. 211-238). New York: Guilford.
- Peters, E., & Slovic, P. (2000). The springs of action: Affective and analytical information processing in choice. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26, 1465-1475.
- Price, P. C. (2000). Wishful thinking in the prediction of competitive outcomes. *Thinking and Reasoning*, *6*, 161-172.

- Price, P. C., Smith, A. R., & Lench, H. C. (2006). The effect of group size on risk judgments and comparative optimism: The more, the riskier. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 90, 907-926.
- Rasmussen, H. N., Wrosch, C., Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (2006). Self-regulation processes and health: The importance of optimism and goal adjustment. *Journal* of Personality, 74, 1722-1748.
- Raune, D., MacLeod, A. K., & Holmes, E. A. (2005). The simulation heuristic and visual imagery in pessimism for future negative events in anxiety. *Clinical Psychology* and Psychotherapy, 12, 313-325.
- Regan, P. C., Snyder, M., & Kassin, S. M. (1995). Unrealistic optimism: Selfenhancement or person positivity? *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21, 1073-1082.
- Riis, J., & Schwarz, N. (2003). Approaching and avoiding Linda: Motor signals influence the conjunction fallacy. *Social Cognition*, *21*, 247-262.
- Robinson, M. D., Wilkowski, B. M., & Meier, B. P. (2008). Approach, avoidance, and self-regulatory conflict: An individual differences perspective. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 44, 65-79.
- Salovey, P., & Birnbaum, D. (1989). Influence of mood on health-relevant cognitions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*, 539–551.
- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1985). Optimism, coping and health: Assessment and implications of generalized outcome expectancies. *Health Psychology*, 4, 219-247.
- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (2003). Self-regulatory processes and response to health threats: Effects of optimism on well-being. In J. Suls & K. A. Wallston (Eds.), *Social psychological foundations of health and illness* (pp. 395-428). Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., & Bridges, M. W. (1994). Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self-mastery, and self-esteem): A re-evaluation of the Life Orientation Test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 1063-1078.
- Schwarz, N. (1990). Feelings as information: Informational and motivational functions of affective states. In T. Higgins and R. Sorrentino (Eds.), *Handbook of motivation and cognition: Foundations of social behavior* (pp. 527-561). New York: Guilford.
- Schwarz, N. (1998). Accessible content and accessibility experiences: The interplay of declarative and experiential information in judgment. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 2, 87-99.
- Schwarz, N. (2006). Feelings, fit, and funny effects: A situated cognition perspective. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 43, 20-23.

- Schwarz, N., Bless, H., Strack, F., Klumpp, G., Rittenauer-Schatka, H., & Simons, A. (1991). Ease of retrieval as information: Another look at the availability heuristic. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61, 195-202.
- Schwarz, N., & Clore, G. L. (1996). Feelings and phenomenal experience. In E. T. Higgins & A. W. Kruglanski (Eds.), *Social psychology: Handbook of basic principles* (pp. 433-523). New York: Guilford.
- Segerstrom, S. C., Taylor, S. E., Kemeny, M. E., & Fahey, J. L. (1998). Optimism is associated with mood, coping, and immune change in response to stress. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 267-275.
- Solberg Nes, L., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2006). Dispositional optimism and coping: A meta-analytic review. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 10, 235-251.
- Sherman, S. J., Cialdini, R. B., Schwartzman, D. F., & Reynolds, K. D. (1985). Imagining can heighten or lower the perceived likelihood of contracting a disease: The mediating effect of ease of imagery. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 11, 118-127.
- Strunk, D. R., Lopez, H., & DeRubeis, R. J. (2006). Depressive symptoms are associated with unrealistic negative predictions of future life events. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44, 861-862.
- Suls, J., & Fletcher, B. (1985). The relative efficacy of avoidant and nonavoidant coping strategies: A meta-analysis. *Health Psychology*, *4*, 249-288.
- Taylor, S. E., & Brown, J. D. (1988). Illusion and well-being: A social-psychological perspective on mental health. *Psychological Bulletin, 103*, 193-210.
- Thorndike, E. L. (1935). *The psychology of wants, interest, and attitudes*. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Van Prooijen, J-W., Karremans, J. C., van Beest, I. (2006). Procedural justice and the hedonic principle: How approach versus avoidance motivation influence psychology of voice. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 91, 686-697.
- Watson, D., Clark, L., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54, 1063-1070.
- Watson, D., Wiese, D., Vaidya, J., & Tellegen, A. (1999). The two general activation systems of affect: Structural findings, evolutionary considerations, and psychobiological evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76, 820-838.
- Weinstein, N. (1980). Unrealistic optimism about future life events. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *39*, 806-820.
- Weinstein, N. D. (1987). Unrealistic optimism about susceptibility to health problems: Conclusions from a community-wide sample. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 10, 481-500.

- Weinstein, N. D. (1988). The precaution adoption process. *Health Psychology*, 7, 355-386.
- Weinstein, N. (2003). Exploring the links between risk perceptions and preventative health behavior. In J. Suls & K. A. Wallston (Eds.), Social psychological foundations of health and illness (pp. 22-53). Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Weinstein, N. D., & Klein, W. M. (1996). Unrealistic optimism: Present and future. Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 15, 1-8.
- Windschitl, P. D., & Chambers, J. R. (2004). The dud-alternative effect in likelihood judgment. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 30*, 198-215.
- Windschitl, P. D., Martin, R., & Flugstad, A. R. (2002). Context and the interpretation of likelihood information: The role of intergroup comparisons on perceived vulnerability. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82, 742-755.
- Windschitl, P. D., Smith, A. R., Rose, J. P., & Krizan, Z. (under review). The desirability bias in predictions: Going optimistic without leaving realism. Revision resubmitted to *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*.
- Windschitl, P. D., & Wells, G. L. (1996). Measuring psychological uncertainty: Verbal versus numeric methods. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 2, 343-364.
- Wright, W. F., & Bower, G. H. (1992). Mood effects on subjective probability assessment. *Organization Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 52, 276-291.
- Zelenski, J. M., & Larsen, R. J. (2002). Predicting the future: How affect-related personality traits influence likelihood judgments of future events. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 28*, 1000-1010.